\oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus





Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya

Departament de Matemàtica Aplicada III

Doctoral Thesis

On the consistency of hysteresis models

Author

Mohammad Fuad Mohammad Naser

Supervisor

Fayçal Ikhouane

Barcelona, 2013

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \bigoplus

Acknowledgments

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

First of all, I would like to gratefully acknowledge my supervisor professor Fayçal Ikhouane for his tremendous support during the three years of work that I put into this thesis. Besides, I would also like to thank Prof. Ningsu Luo Ren, Dr. Víctor Mañosa Fernández, Dr. Anna Cima Mollet, Dr. Asier Ibeas Hernández, and Dr. Yolanda Vidal Seguí for their acceptance to be members of jury of my PhD thesis.

Deepest gratitude is also due to my parents for their understanding and endless love, through the duration of my study. Special thanks also go to my brothers, sisters and friends who shared the burden with me.

I am highly indebted to the Technical University of Catalonia, Department of Applied Mathematics III, the research group CoDAlab, the Consorci Escola Industrial de Barcelona (CEIB), and the Escola Universitria d'Enginyeria Tcnica Industrial de Barcelona (EUETIB) for giving me all facilities and work environment required for my study. Finally, I would like to convey thanks to the Agency for Management of University and Research Grants (AGAUR) for providing the financial support to my study.

"Dissertation" — 2013/12/12 — 1:28 — page iv — #4

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Abstract

 \oplus

 \oplus

Hysteresis is a nonlinear behavior encountered in a wide variety of processes including biology, optics, electronics, ferroelectricity, magnetism, mechanics, structures, among other areas. The presence of hysteresis can be detected experimentally in physical systems by doing the following: Consider as input of the hysteresis system the signal $u_{\gamma} = U_0 \sin(t/\gamma)$ with amplitude U_0 and frequency $1/\gamma$. Let y_{γ} be the corresponding system output. When y_{γ} is plotted against u_{γ} , we get a curve G_{γ} parametrized with time. When this experiment is repeated with different frequencies, and when $\gamma \to \infty$, it is observed that the sequence of graphs G_{γ} converges to some curve G^* [15]. It is also observed that G^* converges asymptotically to a periodic orbit G° which is commonly called hysteresis loop. If the curve G_{γ} is independent of γ , then the hysteretic system is rate-independent like the ones described in [66]. Otherwise, we get G_{γ} depends on γ for the rate-dependent hysteresis systems like the ones described in [42, 37, 32]. For linear systems G° is a line segment, and for hysteresis systems G° is a non-trivial curve [15].

The detailed modeling of hysteresis systems using the laws of Physics is an arduous task, and the obtained models are often too complex to be used in applications. For this reason, alternative models of these complex systems have been proposed [98, 23, 62, 53, 69]. These models do not come, in general, from the detailed analysis of the physical behavior of the systems with hysteresis.

 \oplus

 \square

⊕

vi

 \oplus

 \oplus

Instead, they combine some physical understanding of the system along with some kind of black-box modeling.

In the current literature, these models are mostly used within the following black-box approach: given a set of experimental input-output data, how to adjust the hysteresis model so that the output of the model matches the experimental data? The use of system identification techniques is one practical way to perform this task. Once an identification method has been applied to tune the hysteresis model, the resulting model is considered as a "good" approximation of the true hysteresis when the error between the experimental data and the output of the model is small enough. Then this model is used to study the behavior of the true hysteresis under different excitations. By doing this, it is important to consider the following remark. It may happen that a hysteresis model presents a good match with the experimental real data for a specific input, but does not necessarily keep significant physical properties which are inherent to the real data, independently of the exciting input. In the current literature, this issue has been considered in [58, 76] regarding the passivity/dissipativity of Duhem model and in [53] regarding the stability of the Bouc-Wen model.

In this thesis, we investigate the conditions under which the Duhem model and the LuGre model are consistent with the hysteresis behavior. The concept of consistency is formalized in [52] where a general class of hysteresis operators is considered. The class of operators that are considered in [52] are the causal ones, with the additional condition that a constant input leads to a constant output. For these classes of systems, consistency has been defined formally. Consider for example the Duhem model described by $\dot{x} = f(x, u) g(\dot{u})$, where u is the input and x is the state or the output [78] along with the sequence of inputs $u_{\gamma}(t) = u(t/\gamma), t \geq 0, \gamma > 0$, and the corresponding sequence of outputs x_{γ} with $\dot{x}_{\gamma} = f(x_{\gamma}, u_{\gamma}) g(\dot{u}_{\gamma})$. Consistency means that the sequence of functions $t \to x_{\gamma} (\gamma t)$ converges uniformly when $\gamma \to \infty$. In this thesis, we seek necessary conditions and sufficient ones for this uniform convergence to hold for both Duhem model and LuGre friction model.

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

Thesis layout

This thesis focuses on the consistency of the LuGre friction model and the generalized Duhem model with hysteresis and is organized in four chapters. In each chapter, all obtained results are illustrated by numerical simulations.

Chapter 1 presents background results that are needed throughout the thesis and is divided into two sections. In Section 1.1, some mathematical results are given. Section 1.2 summarizes the findings obtained by [52], where a new a understanding of hysteresis is introduced and the notions of consistency and strong consistency are formulated and explained.

Chapter 2 investigates the strong consistency of the LuGre friction model and consists of two sections. **Section 2.1** presents a literature review of the friction and the LuGre model. The consistency and strong consistency are studied in **Section 2.2**.

Chapter 3 focuses on the consistency of the generalized Duhem model and is divided into four sections. Section 3.1 gives an introduction for the model. Section 3.2 presents the problem statement. A classification of this model is introduced in Section 3.3. Depending on that classification, necessary conditions and sufficient ones are derived for the consistency to hold. This is done

 \oplus

 \Rightarrow

⊕

viii

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

in Sections 3.4 and 3.5.

Chapter 4 presents the main conclusions.

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Contents

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

1	Bac	ground results	1
	1.1	Mathematical preliminaries	1
	1.2	Characterization of hysteresis	5
		1.2.1 Class of inputs	5
		1.2.2 Class of operators	6
		1.2.3 Definition of consistency and strong consistency	8
2	The	uGre friction model 1	1
	2.1	Literature review on friction models	1
	2.2	Consistency of the LuGre model $\ldots \ldots 1$	9
	2.3	Conclusions	8
3	The	generalized Duhem model 3	9
	3.1	Introduction \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 3	9
	3.2	Problem statement	0
	3.3	Classification of the function g	2
		3.3.1 Determination the class of the function g 4	3
		3.3.2 Mathematical preliminaries	1
	3.4	Necessary conditions for consistency	3
	3.5	Sufficient conditions for consistency 6	1
		3.5.1 Class $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ functions	1

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

<u>x</u>						Contents				
		3.5.2 Class $\lambda = 1$ functions		•			69			
	3.6	Conclusions	•	•		•	81			
4	Cor	clusions and future work					83			

 \ominus

 \oplus

 \bigoplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

List of Figures

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

1.1	The gamma function Γ	5
1.2	Simulations of Example 1.2.1	7
1.3	A wave periodic signal	8
2.1	Leonardo da Vinci (1452-1519)	12
2.2	Static friction models: a) Coulomb friction; b) Coulomb + vis-	
	cous; c) Coulomb + viscous + stiction; d) Coulomb + viscous	
	+ Stribeck	13
2.3	Frictional lag	16
2.4	Varying break-away force	17
2.5	LuGre model	18
2.6	Simulations of Example 2.2.1	22
2.7	Left input $u(t)$ versus t. Right $g(\vartheta)$ versus ϑ in Example 2	35
2.8	$\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho)$ versus ϱ for different values of γ	36
2.9	$\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho)$ versus $\psi_u(\varrho)$ for different values of γ	36
2.10	LuGre friction model in Example 2.2.3	37
3.1	Upper left $\sigma_{\gamma}(t)$ versus $u(t)$ for different values of γ . Upper	
	right $(\sigma_{\gamma} - q_u)(t)$ versus t for different values of γ . Lower $q_u(t)$	
	versus t . The plots are for Example 3.4.1, where the solid lines	
	are for q_u	58

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

3.2	$\sigma_{\gamma}(t)$ versus t for the semilinear Duhem model (3.39)	66
3.3	$\sigma_{\gamma}(t)$ versus $u(t)$ for the semilinear Duhem model (3.39)	66
3.4	Bouc's hysteresis model (3.44)	70
3.5	Bouc-Wen model (3.45)	71
3.6	Dahl friction model (3.46)	73

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Background results

⊕

⊕

 \oplus

The present chapter gives some mathematical results that are needed in this work.

1.1 Mathematical preliminaries

 \oplus

A real number x is said positive when x > 0, negative when x < 0, non-positive when $x \le 0$, and non-negative when $x \ge 0$. A function $h : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is said increasing when $t_1 < t_2 \Rightarrow h(t_1) < h(t_2)$, decreasing when $t_1 < t_2 \Rightarrow h(t_1) >$ $h(t_2)$, non-increasing when $t_1 < t_2 \Rightarrow h(t_1) \ge h(t_2)$, and non-decreasing when $t_1 < t_2 \Rightarrow h(t_1) \le h(t_2)$.

The Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} is denoted μ . A subset of \mathbb{R} is said measurable when it is Lebesgue measurable. Consider a function $p: I \subset \mathbb{R}_+ = [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^m$ where I is some interval and m a positive integer; the function p is said measurable when p is (M, B)-measurable where B is the class of Borel sets of \mathbb{R}^m and M is the class of measurable sets of \mathbb{R}_+ . For a measurable function $p: I \subset \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^m$, $\|p\|_{\infty,I}$ denotes the essential supremum of the function |p|on I where $|\cdot|$ is the Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^m . When $I = \mathbb{R}_+$, it is denoted simply $\|p\|_{\infty}$.

Definition 1.1.1. [88, p. 24] For any measurable sets $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$ and $Y \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, we define $L^1(X, Y)$ to be the collection of measurable functions $f: X \to Y$ for

Background results

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

which

$$\int_{X} |f| \, d\mu < \infty.$$

The members of $L^1(X, Y)$ are called Lebesgue integrable or summable functions from X to Y. Now, we present the Dominated Lebesgue Theorem:

Theorem 1.1.1. [88, p. 26] Let X be a measurable subset of \mathbb{R}_+ . Assume that we have a sequence of measurable functions $f_n : X \to \mathbb{R}^m$; for any positive integer n, such that there exists a function $f : X \to \mathbb{R}^m$ with

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} f_n\left(\vartheta\right) = f\left(\vartheta\right), \forall \vartheta \in X.$$

If there exists a function $h \in L^1(X, \mathbb{R}_+)$ such that

$$|f_n(\vartheta)| \le h(\vartheta), \forall \vartheta \in X, \forall \text{ positive integer } n,$$

then $f \in L^1(X, \mathbb{R}^m)$ and

 \oplus

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int\limits_X f_n d\mu = \int\limits_X f d\mu.$$

Definition 1.1.2. [87, p. 104] A function $h : I \subseteq \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^m$ (I is an interval) is said to be absolutely continuous on I if for a given $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left| h\left(\vartheta_{i}^{\prime}\right) - h\left(\vartheta_{i}\right) \right| < \varepsilon,$$

for every k non-overlapping finite collection of $\{(\vartheta_i, \vartheta'_i)\}_{i=1}^k$ of intervals which are subsets of I with

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left| \vartheta_i' - \vartheta_i \right| < \delta$$

Each absolutely continuous function is continuous and differentiable almost everywhere on its domain [87].

1.1 Mathematical preliminaries

Consider the system

 \oplus

 \oplus

$$\dot{x}(t) = h(t, x(t)),$$
 (1.1)

$$x(0) = x_0,$$
 (1.2)

where $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ is the state vector at instant t, m is some positive integer, and $h : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^m$.

Definition 1.1.3. [39, p. 4] Let $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}_+$ be any interval. A function $x: I \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is said to be Carathéodory solution for (1.1) if

- The function x is absolutely continuous on each closed interval that is subset of I,
- The function x satisfies (1.1) almost everywhere on I.

The following theorems state the existence and uniqueness of Carathéodory solutions for (1.1)-(1.2).

Theorem 1.1.2. [39, p. 4] Assume that for each positive numbers a and b, we have

- For almost all $t \in [0, a]$, the function $h(t, \cdot)$ is continuous on the set $\{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^m / |\alpha x_0| < b\}.$
- For each α ∈ {α ∈ ℝ^m / |α − x₀| < b}, the function h (·, α) is measurable on [0, a].
- There exists a function $m : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ that is summable on [0, a] such that $|h(t, \alpha)| \leq m(t)$ for all $t \in [0, a]$ and for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^m$ that satisfy $|\alpha x_0| < b$.

Then there exists some d > 0 such that the system (1.1)-(1.2) admits a Carathéodory solution that is defined on [0, d).

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

⊕

⊕

 \oplus

Definition 1.1.4. [39, p. 5] A function $h : D \subseteq \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is Lipschitz if there exists a summable function $l : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$\left|h\left(t,\alpha_{1}\right)-h\left(t,\alpha_{2}\right)\right|\leq l\left(t\right)\left|\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}\right|,$$

for almost all $t \geq 0$ and for all $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{R}^m$ with $(t, \alpha_1), (t, \alpha_2) \in D$.

Theorem 1.1.3. [39, p. 5] Assume that the system (1.1)-(1.2) has a solution. Assume that the function $h : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is Lipschitz as in Definition 1.1.4, then the solution of system (1.1)-(1.2) is unique.

Note that if the solution of (1.1)-(1.2) is bounded, its solution is global, i.e. is defined on \mathbb{R}_+ (see [90, p. 71]).

Theorem 1.1.4. [39, p. 5] Let \mathcal{M} be the set of $m \times m$ matrices. Assume that all components of the matrices

$$A: \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathcal{M},$$
$$b: \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^m,$$

are summable on each subset of \mathbb{R}_+ . Then the linear time-varying system $\dot{x}(t) = A(t)x + b(t), t \ge 0$ has a unique solution that is defined on \mathbb{R}_+ , for each initial condition $x(0) = x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$.

Definition 1.1.5. [100, p. 235] The function $\Gamma : \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0, -1, -2, \ldots\} \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined as

$$\Gamma(\alpha) = \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{\alpha - 1} e^{-t} dt, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0, -1, -2, \ldots\}.$$
(1.3)

Observe that the gamma function is defined on the whole \mathbb{R} except at the non-positive integers (see Figure 1.1) because the improper integral in (1.3) diverges at that points. Furthermore, it can be shown that $\Gamma(1/2) = \sqrt{\pi}$ and that the gamma function satisfies $\Gamma(k+1) = k\Gamma(k)$ for each positive integer k.

 \oplus

1.2 Characterization of hysteresis



Figure 1.1: The gamma function Γ

1.2 Characterization of hysteresis

This section summarizes the results obtained in [52].

1.2.1 Class of inputs

 \oplus

Consider the Sobolev space $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^n)$ of absolutely continuous functions $u: \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n$, where *n* is a positive integer. For this class of functions, the derivative \dot{u} is defined a.e., and we have $||u||_{\infty} < \infty$, $||\dot{u}||_{\infty} < \infty$. Endowed with the norm $||u||_{1,\infty} = \max(||u||_{\infty}, ||\dot{u}||_{\infty}), W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n)$ is a Banach space [1]. For $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n)$, let $\rho_u : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be the total variation of u on [0,t], that is $\rho_u(t) = \int_0^t |\dot{u}(\tau)| \, d\tau \in \mathbb{R}_+$. The function ρ_u is well defined as $\dot{u} \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n)^1$. It is non-decreasing and absolutely continuous. Denote $\rho_{u,\max} = \lim_{t\to\infty} \rho_u(t)$ and let

- $I_u = [0, \rho_{u,\max}]$ if $\rho_{u,\max} = \rho_u(t)$ for some $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ (in this case, $\rho_{u,\max}$ is necessarily finite).
- $I_u = [0, \rho_{u,\max})$ if $\rho_{u,\max} > \rho_u(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ (in this case, $\rho_{u,\max}$ may be finite or infinite).

 ${}^{1}L^{1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_{+},\mathbb{R}^{n})$ is the space of locally integrable functions $\mathbb{R}_{+} \to \mathbb{R}^{n}$.

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Lemma 1.2.1. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n)$ be non-constant so that the interval I_u is not reduced to a single point. Then there exists a unique function $\psi_u \in W^{1,\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R}^n)$ that satisfies $\psi_u \circ \rho_u = u$.

Consider the linear time scale change $s_{\gamma}(t) = t/\gamma$, for any $\gamma > 0$ and $t \ge 0$.

Lemma 1.2.2. For all $\gamma > 0$, we have $I_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} = I_u$ and $\psi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} = \psi_u$.

1.2.2 Class of operators

Let Ξ be a set of initial conditions. Let \mathcal{H} be an operator that maps the input function $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n)$ and initial condition $\xi^0 \in \Xi$ to an output in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$. That is $\mathcal{H}: W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n) \times \Xi \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$. The operator \mathcal{H} is said to be causal if the following holds [98, p.60]: $\forall (u_1, \xi^0), (u_2, \xi^0) \in$ $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n) \times \Xi$, if $u_1 = u_2$ in $[0, \tau]$, then $\mathcal{H}(u_1, \xi^0) = \mathcal{H}(u_2, \xi^0)$ in $[0, \tau]$.

Let $(u,\xi^0) \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^n) \times \Xi$ and $y = \mathcal{H}(u,\xi^0) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^m)$. In the rest of this work, only causal operators are considered. Additionally, we consider that the operator \mathcal{H} satisfies the following.

Assumption 1.2.1. Let $(u, \xi^0) \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n) \times \Xi$; if there exists a time instant $\theta \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that u is constant in $[\theta, \infty)$, then the corresponding output $\mathcal{H}(u, \xi^0)$ is constant in $[\theta, \infty)$.

Assumption 1.2.1 is verified by all causal and rate-independent hysteresis operators (see for example [65, Proposition 2.1] for a proof). This includes relay hysteresis, Ishlinskii model, Preisach model, Krasnosel'skii and Pokrovskii hysteron and generalized play [66]. Assumption 1.2.1 is also verified by some causal and rate-dependent hysteresis models like the generalized Duhem model [72].

Lemma 1.2.3. There exists a unique function $\varphi_u \in L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R}^m)$ that satisfies $\varphi_u \circ \rho_u = y$. Moreover, we have $\|\varphi_u\|_{\infty, I_u} \leq \|y\|_{\infty}$. If y is continuous on \mathbb{R}_+ , then φ_u is continuous on I_u and we have $\|\varphi_u\|_{\infty, I_u} = \|y\|_{\infty}$.

 \oplus

1.2 Characterization of hysteresis

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus



Figure 1.2: Simulations of Example 1.2.1

Example 1.2.1. Let the input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ be defined for all $t \ge 0$ as $u(t) = \sin(t)$. Figure 1.2a shows the total variation ρ_u of the input u. Lemma 1.2.1 states that there exists a unique function $\psi_u \in W^{1,\infty}(I_u,\mathbb{R}^n)$ that satisfies $\psi_u \circ \rho_u = u$. The graph of ψ_u is presented in Figure 1.2b. Now, consider the system

$$\dot{x}(t) = (-x(t) + u(t)) (\dot{u}(t))^2, t \ge 0,$$
 (1.4)

$$x(0) = 0. (1.5)$$

where $x \in \mathbb{R}$ is the output and $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ is the input of the system. Equation (1.4) can be written as the linear time-varying system of Theorem 1.1.4. It is easy to show that all assumptions of Theorem 1.1.4 are satisfied. Thus, system (1.4)-(1.5) admits a unique solution that is defined on \mathbb{R}_+ . This solution is given in Figure 1.2c.

The operator \mathcal{H} which maps the input function $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ and initial

 $\mathbf{7}$

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus



Figure 1.3: A wave periodic signal

condition $\xi^0 \in \mathbb{R}$ to output y in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ is well defined. Moreover, the operator \mathcal{H} is causal because if we pick two input signals which are equal on some interval $[0, \tau], \tau > 0$, their outputs are also equal on the same interval since the initial condition is the same for both inputs. On the other hand, Assumption 1.2.1 is satisfied because of (1.4).

All the assumptions in this section are satisfied and thus we conclude from Lemma 1.2.1 that there exists a unique function $\varphi_u \in L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$ that satisfies $\varphi_u \circ \rho_u = y$ (see the graph of φ_u in Figure 1.2d).

1.2.3 Definition of consistency and strong consistency

Definition 1.2.1. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^n)$ and initial condition $\xi^0 \in \Xi$ be given. Consider an operator $\mathcal{H} : W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^n) \times \Xi \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^m)$ that is causal and that satisfies Assumption 1.2.1. The operator \mathcal{H} is said to be consistent with respect to input u and initial condition ξ^0 if and only if the sequence of functions $\{\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}\}_{\gamma>0}$ converges in $L^{\infty}(I_u,\mathbb{R}^m)$ as $\gamma \to \infty$.

For any causal model of hysteresis that satisfies Assumption 1.2.1, consistency should hold.

Let T > 0. In what follows we consider that the input u is T-periodic.

1.2 Characterization of hysteresis

 \oplus

 \oplus

Definition 1.2.2. A *T*-periodic function $w : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be wave periodic if there exists some $T^+ \in (0,T)$ such that

- The function w is continuous on \mathbb{R}_+
- The function w is continuously differentiable on $(0, T^+)$ and on (T^+, T)
- The function w is increasing on $(0, T^+)$ and is decreasing on (T^+, T)

An example of a wave periodic function is given in Figure 1.3.

Lemma 1.2.4. If the input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n)$ is non-constant and T-periodic, then $I_u = \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\psi_u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n)$ is $\rho_u(T)$ -periodic. Furthermore, if n =1 and u is wave periodic, then ψ_u is also wave periodic and $\dot{\psi}_u(\varrho) = 1$ for almost all $\varrho \in (0, \rho_u(T^+))$ and $\dot{\psi}_u(\varrho) = -1$ for almost all $\varrho \in (\rho_u(T^+), \rho_u(T))$.

For any positive integer k, define $\varphi_{u,k}^{*} \in L^{\infty}\left(\left[0, \rho_{u}\left(T\right)\right], \mathbb{R}^{m}\right)$ as

$$\varphi_{u,k}^{*}\left(\varrho\right) = \varphi_{u}^{*}\left(\rho_{u}\left(T\right)k + \varrho\right), \forall \varrho \in \left[0, \rho_{u}\left(T\right)\right].$$

Definition 1.2.3. The operator \mathcal{H} is said to be strongly consistent with respect to input u and initial condition ξ^0 if and only if it is consistent with respect to u and ξ^0 , and the sequence of functions $\varphi^*_{u,k}$ converges in $L^{\infty}([0, \rho_u(T)], \mathbb{R}^m)$ as $k \to \infty$.

If the operator \mathcal{H} is strongly consistent with respect to input u and initial condition ξ^0 , then $\{(\varphi_u^{\circ}(\varrho), \psi_u(\varrho)), \varrho \in [0, \rho_u(T)]\}$ represents the so-called hysteresis loop, where $\varphi_u^{\circ} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \varphi_{u,k}^*$.

9

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \ominus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

The LuGre friction model

Đ

⊕

⊕

 \oplus

2.1 Literature review on friction models

Friction is a force of resistance encountered when one object is moved while it is in contact with another [8, 94]. It is derived from the Latin word fricare, "to rub". Although the objects might look smooth, they are very rough and jagged at the molecular level. Therefore, no wonder that friction exists in almost all mechanical systems [17].

Leonardo da Vinci (1452-1519) is considered the first who studied friction systematically [8, 103, 9, 33]. He realized how important friction is for the working of machines. Da Vinci stated the two basic laws of friction 200 years before Newton even defined what force is. The first law is: the areas in contact have no effect on friction. The second law is: friction produces double the amount of effort if the weight be doubled. He did not publish his theories. The only evidence of their existence is in his vast collection of journals. Two centuries after Da Vinci's discoveries, the French physicist Guillaume Amontons (1663-1705) rediscovered the two basic laws of friction first put forward by Da Vinci. He believed that friction was a result of the work done to lift one surface over the roughness of the other or from the deforming or the wearing of the other surface [33]. These results were then verified mathematically by Charles-Augustin de Coulomb (1736-1806) [22]. Coulomb published his work referring to Amontons and deduced the following law: "the friction between

Đ

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus



Figure 2.1: Leonardo da Vinci (1452-1519)

two surfaces is proportional to the force pressing one to the other". The previous law of friction is known as the "Amontons-Coulomb Law" referring to work done by the two scientists.

Since the discoveries of the centuries 13-16, researchers have been studying friction in many contexts, including identification [19, 10, 60] and compensation [41, 67, 24, 60]. Friction compensated system would be of interest to many companies, especially to those whose primary industry deals with systems that require precise motion control. Detailed studies about friction and its modeling techniques can be found in [8, 94].

There are many types of friction, depending upon the nature of materials, that it is created between. Fluid friction, lubricated friction and dry friction are the most popular types of friction [14]. Fluid friction occurs in fluids that are moving relative to each other [14]. In the case of fluid friction, if a fluid separates two solid surfaces, then the friction is said to be lubricated [49]. Finally, dry friction is the friction force created between solid surfaces in contact with each other [11].

Dry friction is divided into static and dynamic friction [68]. Static friction is friction between two or more solid objects that are not moving relative to each other. For example between a cement block and a wooden floor. The static

 \oplus

2.1 Literature review on friction models

 \oplus

 \oplus



Figure 2.2: Static friction models: a) Coulomb friction; b) Coulomb + viscous; c) Coulomb + viscous + stiction; d) Coulomb + viscous + Stribeck

friction force must be overcome by an applied force before an object can move. It is measured as the maximum force the bodies will sustain before motion occurs. In the static models, friction depends only on the relative velocity between two bodies in contact [68, 97, 31]. Dynamic friction occurs between objects that are moving relative to each other and rub together, as for example the force that works against sliding a cement block along a wooden floor.

Both dynamic friction and static friction, depend on the nature of the surfaces in contact and the magnitude of the force that is acted upon the body in motion. However, static friction is usually greater than dynamic friction for the same surfaces in contact [70]. In some models, static friction can be less than dynamic friction [81].

Static friction models

The first mathematical friction model was proposed by Coulomb in 1773 AD [48]. This model, despite its simplicity, is able to capture the basic physical

 $\mathbf{13}$

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

behavior of frictionally induced vibrations. The main idea behind this model is that the friction force F, opposes motion and that it is independent of the magnitude of the velocity v and contact area [28, 2]. It can therefore be described as

$$F = F_C \cdot \operatorname{sgn}\left(v\right),\tag{2.1}$$

where the friction force $F_C > 0$ is proportional to the normal load $F_N \in \mathbb{R}$, i.e. $F_C = \mu |F_N|, \mu > 0$ being the friction coefficient of the normal load F_N . The signum function sgn : $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is such that

$$\operatorname{sgn}\left(\vartheta\right) = \begin{cases} 1 & \vartheta > 0\\ -1 & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

The description of friction given in (2.1) is termed Coulomb friction (see Figure 2.2a). In this model, friction force is not specified for zero velocity. It may take any value in the interval $[-F_C, F_C]$, depending on how the sgn function is defined. In fact, all the classical static models of friction have the same problem. The Coulomb friction model, because of its simplicity, is used for friction compensation [41, 13].

In the 19th century, the theory of hydrodynamics was developed leading to expressions for the friction force caused by the viscosity of lubricants [82, 80]. The viscous friction can be described by

$$F = \sigma \cdot v$$

where $\sigma > 0$ in this equation represents a proportionality constant and v is the relative velocity between the moving bodies. Unlike Coulomb friction model, the viscous friction force depends on the magnitude of the velocity (see Figure 2.2b).

Stiction is the short term that describes the static friction force at rest. In 1833, Mortin observed in [71] that stiction is higher than Coulomb friction level [18]. Friction at rest (stiction) can be described as a function of an external

 \oplus

2.1 Literature review on friction models

 \oplus

 \oplus

force F_e in addition to velocity as follows [83]:

$$F = \begin{cases} F_e & \text{if } v = 0 \text{ and } |F_e| < F_S \\ F_S \operatorname{sgn}(F_e) & \text{if } v = 0 \text{ and } |F_e| \ge F_S \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

where F_S is the static (breakaway) force. We observe from (2.2) that stiction at zero velocity can take any value in the interval $[-F_S, F_S]$ as illustrated in Figure 2.2c.

At the beginning of the 20th century, Stribeck described the friction coefficient in lubricated bearings, and observed that the friction force does not decrease discontinuously as in Figure 2.2c, but that the velocity dependence is continuous as shown in Figure 2.2d [93, 8, 25, 94, 36]. In his honor, the deep drop of friction while increasing the relative velocity is known as Stribeck effect. A general description of friction is

$$F = \begin{cases} F_*(v) & \text{if } v \neq 0\\ F_e & \text{if } v = 0 \text{ and } |F_e| < F_S\\ F_S \operatorname{sgn}(F_e) & \text{if } v = 0 \text{ and } |F_e| \ge F_S \end{cases}$$

where $F_*(v)$ is an arbitrary function that looks like the plot in Figure 2.2d.

Dynamic friction models

Dynamic friction occurs when two objects are moving relative to each other, with their surfaces in contact. It is the frictional force that slows down moving object until they stop [91, 70].

Many properties that cannot be captured by typical static friction models, may be described by dynamic friction models [31]. Presliding displacement, frictional lag, varying break-away force, and stick-slip motion are examples of such properties. More details the previous properties come next.

Presliding displacement refers to displacement that occurs just before a complete slip between two contacting surfaces takes place [93]. It is due to limited

15

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Đ

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus



Figure 2.3: Frictional lag

stiffness of the contact asperities (roughness features) on the surfaces [45]. In presliding regimes, the friction force appears to be a function of displacement rather than velocity [9]. Studying presliding friction is useful in control applications because a hysteresis behavior may exist between the presliding friction force input and the displacement output [85, 94, 4].

Experimental results show that relative displacement between two bodies in contact may occur when the applied tangential force is less than the static friction (stiction) [27, 56]. As the displacement increases the tangential force increases more and more slowly, approaching asymptotically to the stiction force [27]. On the other hand, as the displacement increases more and more asperity junctions ¹ will deform elastically and then plastically [27, 7]. When the applied tangential force reaches the stiction level, the asperity junctions break and the sliding begins [27, 56]. This elastic-plastic process cause increases and decreases in the applied tangential force which causes hysteresis.

Frictional lag; also called hysteresis in the velocity, refers to the delay between a change in velocity and the corresponding change in friction [47]. The origin of friction lag in lubricated friction relates to the time required before the friction force changes with changing sliding velocity. Experiments on fric-

 \oplus

 $^{^1\}mathrm{asperity}$ junctions are the load bearing interfaces between rubbing surfaces

 \oplus



Figure 2.4: Varying break-away force

tion lag ensure that hysteresis may occur between friction force and velocity, where the friction force for increasing velocities is larger than the friction force for decreasing velocities [25]. Frictional lag is presented in Figure 2.3.

The break-away force is the force required to overcome the stiction and initiate motion [8]. Varying break-away force is the dependence of the break-away force on the rate of increase of the applied force [27, 79] (see Figure 2.4).

Stick-slip concept has been introduced for the first time in [16]. It is a repeated sequences of sticking spontaneous jerking motion that can occur when two objects are sliding over each other [7], where in a first phase of relatively small displacement (stick) strain energy is accumulated which in a second phase (slip) transforms into kinetic energy [22, 35]. In other words, stick-slip motion occurs when friction at rest is larger than during motion [25].

LuGre friction model

Each surface has a number of asperities at the microscopic level. This is pictured by Haessig et al. [43] as a contact through elastic bristles. Haessig et al. [43] introduced a system that describes the friction between two surfaces

17

Đ

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus



Figure 2.5: LuGre model

in contact depending upon the idea that friction is caused by a large number of interacting bristles. This idea was then employed by Canudas de Wit et al. [25] to derive a new friction model which treats the low velocity friction using a model of the deflection of elastic bristles as in Figure 2.5 [59, 31, 25, 75]. This model is called LuGre because it is resulted from a collaboration between control groups in Lund and Grenoble [25]. The LuGre model has the form [59]:

$$\dot{x}(t) = -\sigma_0 \frac{|\dot{u}(t)|}{\mu(\dot{u}(t))} x(t) + \dot{u}(t), \forall t \ge 0,$$
(2.3)

$$x(0) = x_0,$$
 (2.4)

$$F(t) = \sigma_0 x(t) + \sigma_1 \dot{x}(t) + \nu(\dot{u}(t)).$$
(2.5)

where

Æ

 \oplus

- $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ is the relative displacement and is the input of the system;
- $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ is the average deflection of the bristles and is the inner state of the model;
- $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ is the initial state;
- $F(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ is the friction force and is the output of the system;
- $\sigma_0 > 0$ is stiffness of the bristles;

2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model

 \oplus

 \oplus

- $\sigma_1 > 0$ is the viscous friction coefficient;
- $\mu \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})^{-2}$ represents the macro-damping friction with $\mu(\vartheta) > 0, \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$. This function may model the Stribeck effect;
- $\nu \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ is a memoryless velocity-dependent function that represents the viscous friction.

Typically, the function $\nu(\vartheta)$ takes the form $\nu(\vartheta) = \sigma_2 \vartheta, \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, where the parameter $\sigma_2 > 0$ is the viscous friction coefficient. A reasonable choice of $\mu(\vartheta)$ giving a good approximation of the Stribeck effect is (see [25]):

$$\mu\left(\vartheta\right) = F_C + \left(F_S - F_C\right) e^{-\left|\vartheta/v_s\right|^{\alpha}},\tag{2.6}$$

for all $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, where $F_C > 0$ is the Coulomb friction force, $F_S > 0$ is the stiction force, $v_s \in \mathbb{R}$ is the Stribeck velocity, and α is a positive constant.

The LuGre model is able to capture hysteresis, Stribeck effect, stick-slip motion, presliding displacement, varying break-away force and frictional lag effects [59, 85, 46]. Thus, it is widely used to describe the friction phenomenon [78, 59]. The LuGre model behaves like a linear spring/damper pair when it is linearized at rest [25]. Algebraic necessary and sufficient conditions for the dissipativity of the LuGre model are obtained in [12]. The model is used for friction compensation [40, 57, 105, 102, 89, 64, 95], and it is studied in terms of parameter identification [101, 84, 92].

2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model

In this section, we study the consistency and the strong consistency of the LuGre model (2.3)-(2.5). To this end, we need to prove first the existence of a solution for the system. This comes next.

In Equation (2.3), the function $g(\dot{u})$ is measurable [88, Theorem 1.12(d)]. Thus, the differential equation (2.3) can be seen as a linear time-varying system \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 $^{^{2}}C^{0}(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})$ is the space of continuous functions $\mu:\mathbb{R}\to\mathbb{R}$, with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$.

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

that satisfies all assumptions of [39, Theorem 3]. This implies that a unique absolutely continuous solution of (2.3) exists on \mathbb{R}_+ (see Theorem 1.1.4).

Now we present some mathematical preliminaries that will be used in Lemma 2.2.2 which includes the main results of this Chapter.

We define some operators for the equations (2.3)-(2.5) as follows:

- The operator $\mathcal{H}_s : W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}) \times \mathbb{R} \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ such that $\mathcal{H}_s(u, x_0) = x$
- The operator $\mathcal{H}_o: W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}) \times \mathbb{R} \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ such that $\mathcal{H}_o(u, x_0) = F$

Now consider the following system.

$$\dot{x}(t) = -\sigma_0 \frac{|v(t)|}{\mu(v(t))} x(t) + v(t), \qquad (2.7)$$

$$x(0) = x_0,$$
 (2.8)

$$F(t) = \sigma_0 x(t) + \sigma_1 \dot{x}(t) + \nu(v(t)).$$
 (2.9)

in which $v \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$. In equations (2.7)-(2.9), consider the following operators:

- The operator $\mathcal{H}'_s : L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}) \times \mathbb{R} \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ such that $\mathcal{H}'_s(v, x_0) = x$
- The operator $\mathcal{H}'_o: L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}) \times \mathbb{R} \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ such that $\mathcal{H}'_o(v, x_0) = F$

Observe that the operators \mathcal{H}'_s and \mathcal{H}'_o are causal due to the uniqueness of the solutions of Equation (2.3).

Consider the left-derivative operator Δ_{-} defined on $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ by

$$[\Delta_{-}(u)](t) = \lim_{\tau \uparrow t} \frac{u(\tau) - u(t)}{\tau - t}$$

The operator Δ_{-} is causal as $[\Delta_{-}(u)](t)$ depends only on values of $u(\tau)$ for $\tau \leq t$, and we have $\Delta_{-}(u) = \dot{u}$ a.e. as $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+},\mathbb{R})$ so that $\Delta_{-}(u) \in U^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+},\mathbb{R})$

 φ

2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model

$L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}).$

 \oplus

 \oplus

Note that $\mathcal{H}_s = \mathcal{H}'_s \circ (\Delta_-, x_0)$ and $\mathcal{H}_o = \mathcal{H}'_o \circ (\Delta_-, x_0)$ so that the operators \mathcal{H}_s and \mathcal{H}_o are causal. Observe also that \mathcal{H}_s and \mathcal{H}_o satisfy Assumption 1.2.1.

Proposition 2.2.1. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$. There exists a unique function $v_u \in L^{\infty}(I_u,\mathbb{R})$ that is defined by $v_u \circ \rho_u = \dot{u}$. Moreover, $\|v_u\|_{\infty,I_u} \leq \|\dot{u}\|_{\infty}$. Assume that \dot{u} is nonzero on a set $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ that satisfies $\mu(\rho_u(\mathbb{R}\setminus A)) = 0$. Then, v_u is nonzero almost everywhere.

Proof. The operator $\Delta_{-}: W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+},\mathbb{R}) \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+},\mathbb{R})$ is causal and satisfies Assumption 1.2.1. The first part of Proposition 2.2.1 follows immediately from Lemma 1.2.3. Now, let $B = \{\varrho \in I_u/v_u(\varrho) = 0\}$, then $B \subseteq \rho_u(\mathbb{R} \setminus A)$ which implies that $\mu(B) = 0$. \Box

In general, \dot{u} does not need to be nonzero almost everywhere to make v_u non-zero. This fact is illustrated in Example 2.2.1.

Example 2.2.1. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ be a periodic function of period 3 such that

$$u(t) = \begin{cases} -t & 0 \le t < 1\\ -1 & 1 \le t < 2\\ t-3 & 2 \le t < 3 \end{cases}$$

Functions u, \dot{u} , and ρ_u are shown respectively in Figures 2.6a, 2.6b, and 2.6c. Let us focus on the interval [0,3]. The function u is zero on [1,2], and the total variation ρ_u maps the interval [1,2] into the singleton $\{1\}$. Therefore, v_u is non-zero almost everywhere as we observe in Figure 2.6d.

In the rest of the section, we consider that the input u satisfies the conditions of Proposition 2.2.1.

Consider the time scale change $s_{\gamma}(t) = t/\gamma, \gamma > 0, t \ge 0$. When the input

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus



Figure 2.6: Simulations of Example 2.2.1

 $u \circ s_{\gamma}$ is used instead of u, system (2.3)-(2.5) becomes

$$\dot{x}_{\gamma}(t) = -\sigma_0 \frac{\left|\frac{\dot{u} \circ s_{\gamma}(t)}{\gamma}\right|}{\mu\left(\frac{\dot{u} \circ s_{\gamma}(t)}{\gamma}\right)} x_{\gamma}(t) + \frac{\dot{u} \circ s_{\gamma}(t)}{\gamma}, \qquad (2.10)$$

$$x_{\gamma}(0) = x_0,$$
 (2.11)

$$F_{\gamma}(t) = \sigma_0 x_{\gamma}(t) + \sigma_1 \dot{x}_{\gamma}(t) + \nu \left(\frac{\dot{u} \circ s_{\gamma}(t)}{\gamma}\right). \qquad (2.12)$$

When $\gamma = 1$, system (2.10)-(2.12) reduces to (2.3)-(2.5).

Lemma 1.2.3 shows that for any $\gamma > 0$, there exists a unique function $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \in L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$ such that $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} = x_{\gamma}$, and a unique function $\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \in L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$ such that $\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} = F_{\gamma}$. Using the change of variables $\varrho = \rho_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(t)$, it follows from Equations (2.10)-(2.12), Lemma 1.2.2 and

2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model

Proposition 2.2.1 that

 \oplus

 \oplus

$$\dot{x}_{u\circ s_{\gamma}}\left(\varrho\right) = -\frac{\sigma_{0}}{\mu\left(\frac{v_{u}(\varrho)}{\gamma}\right)} x_{u\circ s_{\gamma}}\left(\varrho\right) + \dot{\psi}_{u}\left(\varrho\right), \qquad (2.13)$$

$$x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \left(0 \right) = x_0, \tag{2.14}$$

$$\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho) = \sigma_0 x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho) + \frac{\sigma_1}{\gamma} |v_u(\varrho)| \dot{x}_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho) + \nu \left(\frac{v_u(\varrho)}{\gamma}\right), \quad (2.15)$$

for all $\gamma > 0$ and for almost all $\varrho \in I_u$.

Problem statement: The aim of this section is to analyze the convergence properties of the sequence of functions $\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}$ in order to study the consistency and strong consistency of the operator \mathcal{H}_o .

The following lemma generalizes Theorem 4.18 in [61, p.172]. Indeed, in [61], continuous differentiability is needed, while in Lemma 2.2.1, we only need absolute continuity. Also, in [61], the inequality on the derivative of the Lyapunov function is needed everywhere, while in Lemma 2.2.1 it is needed only almost everywhere.

Lemma 2.2.1. Consider a function $z : [0, \omega) \subseteq \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$, where $\omega > 0$ is finite or infinite. Assume the following

- 1. The function z is absolutely continuous on each compact interval of $[0, \omega)$.
- 2. There exist $z_1 \ge 0$ and $z_2 > 0$ such that $z_1 < z_2$, $z(0) < z_2$ and

$$\dot{z}(t) \leq 0$$
 for almost all $t \in [0, \omega)$ that satisfy $z_1 < z(t) < z_2$. (2.16)

Then, $z(t) \le \max(z(0), z_1), \forall t \in [0, \omega).$

Proof. We discuss two cases, CASE I: $z(0) \le z_1$ and CASE II: $z_1 < z(0) < z_2$.

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

CASE I: $z(0) \le z_1$.

The objective of what follows is to prove that $\forall t \in [0, \omega)$ we have $z(t) \leq z_1$. To this end, assume that $\exists t_1 \in (0, \omega)$ such that $z(t_1) > z_1$. Put $C = \{\tau \in [0, \omega) / z(t) \leq z_1, \forall t \in [0, \tau]\}$. The set C is nonempty because $0 \in C$. Define $t_2 := \operatorname{Sup} C$, then there exists a real sequence $\{\tau_n \in C\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tau_n = t_2$. By the continuity of z, we have $z(t_2) = \lim_{n\to\infty} z(\tau_n) \leq z_1$. This fact implies that $t_2 \in C$ leading to $t_2 < t_1$. Also, there exists a real sequence $\{\tau'_n > t_2\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ such that $z(\tau'_n) > z_1, \forall n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tau'_n = t_2$. Since z is continuous we get $z(t_2) \geq z_1$ which leads to $z(t_2) = z_1$. Let $D = \{t \in [t_2, t_1] / z(t) = z_1\}$. The set D is nonempty since $t_2 \in D$. Define $t_3 := \operatorname{Sup} D$, then using a similar argument as above we get $t_3 \in D$ which implies that $z(t_3) = z_1$ and $t_3 < t_1$.

Claim 1. $z(t) > z_1, \forall t_3 < t \le t_1.$

Proof. Assume that $\exists t_4 \in (t_3, t_1]$ such that $z(t_4) \leq z_1$. By definition of t_3 , we get $z(t_4) < z_1$. Since z is continuous and $z(t_4) < z_1 < z(t_1)$, we can use the Intermediate Value Theorem [6] to find $t_5 \in (t_4, t_1)$ such that $z(t_5) = z_1$ which implies that $t_5 \in D$ and $t_5 > t_3$ which is a contradiction.

Let $E = \{t \in [t_3, t_1] \mid z(t) = z_2\}$. We consider the following sub-cases $E = \emptyset$ and $E \neq \emptyset$. If $E = \emptyset$, then $z(t_1) < z_2$ and hence Claim 1 and (2.16) imply that

 $\dot{z}(t) \leq 0$, for almost all $t \in (t_3, t_1]$.

Thus, the absolute continuity of the function z implies

$$\int_{t_3}^{t_1} \dot{z}(t) \, dt = z(t_1) - z(t_3) \le 0,$$

which contradicts the fact that $z(t_3) = z_1 < z(t_1)$. Now, if $E \neq \emptyset$, let $t_6 = \text{Inf } E$. It can be shown that $t_6 \in E$ and $t_3 < t_6$. Thus, Claim 1 and (2.16)
2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model

give

 \oplus

 \oplus

$$\dot{z}(t) \leq 0$$
, for almost all $t \in (t_3, t_6)$,

which also contradicts the facts that z is absolutely continuous on each compact interval and $z(t_3) = z_1 < z_2 = z(t_6)$. We have thus proved that, in CASE I,

$$z(t) \le z_1, \ \forall t \in [0, \omega) \text{ whenever } z(0) \le z_1.$$
 (2.17)

CASE II: $z_1 < z(0) < z_2$.

Assume that $\exists t_1 \in (0, \omega)$ such that $z(t_1) = z_1$. Let $t_2 > 0$ be the smallest real number such that $z(t_2) = z_1$ (it exists due to the continuity of z). Then, seeing t_2 as an initial time, and z_1 as an initial condition, it follows from CASE I that $\forall t \ge t_2$ we have $z(t) \le z_1$. So we have just to analyze what happens in the interval $[0, t_2]$ and discuss the case $\forall t \in [0, \omega), z(t) > z_1$. The analysis of both situations is the same so that we focus on the case $\forall t \in [0, \omega), z(t) > z_1$.

Assume that $\exists t_3 \in (0, \omega)$ such that $z(t_3) = z_2$. Let $t_4 > 0$ be the smallest real number such that $z(t_4) = z_2$ (it exists due to the continuity of z). Then, $\forall t \in [0, t_4)$ we have $z_1 < z(t) < z_2$ which implies that for almost all $t \in [0, t_4)$ we have $\dot{z}(t) \leq 0$. Since z is absolutely continuous, it follows that $\int_0^{t_4} \dot{z}(t) dt = z(t_4) - z(0) = z_2 - z(0) \leq 0$. This contradict the fact that $z_2 > z(0)$ which means that $\forall t \geq 0, z(t) < z_2$. Since $\forall t \in [0, \omega), z(t) > z_1$, it follows that $\forall t \in [0, \omega), \dot{z}(t) \leq 0$ so that $\forall t \in [0, \omega), \int_0^t \dot{z}(\tau) d\tau = z(t) - z(0) \leq 0$.

As a conclusion, we have proved that in CASE II that $\forall t \in [0, \omega), z(t) \leq z(0)$.

Example 2.2.2. We want to study the stability of the following system

$$\dot{x}(t) = -x^{3}(t) + u(t),$$
 (2.18)

$$x(0) = x_0,$$
 (2.19)

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

where x_0 and state x take values in \mathbb{R} , and input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$. System (2.18)-(2.19) has an absolutely continuous solution that is defined on an interval of the form $[0, \omega)$ [39, p.4].

Let $z : [0, \omega) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be such that $z(t) = x^2(t), \forall t \in [0, \omega)$. The function z is absolutely continuous on each compact subset of $[0, \omega)$ because x is absolutely continuous. Thus, Condition 1 in Lemma 2.2.1 is satisfied.

We have for almost all $t \in [0, \omega)$ that

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{z}(t) &= 2x(t) \cdot \dot{x}(t) \\ &= 2x(t) \left(-x^3(t) + u(t) \right) \\ &\leq -2z^2(t) + 2 \|u\|_{\infty} \sqrt{z(t)}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\dot{z}(t) \leq 0 \text{ for almost all } t \in [0, \omega) \text{ that satisfy } \|u\|_{\infty}^{2/3} < z(t)$$
.

Therefore, Condition 2 in Lemma 2.2.1 is satisfied with $z_1 = ||u||_{\infty}^{2/3}$ and z_2 can be any positive real number such that

$$z_2 > \max(z(0), z_1) = \max\left(x_0^2, ||u||_{\infty}^{2/3}\right).$$

Thus, we deduce from Lemma 2.2.1 that

$$z(t) \le \max\left(z(0), \|u\|_{\infty}^{2/3}\right) = \max\left(x_0^2, \|u\|_{\infty}^{2/3}\right), \, \forall t \in [0, \omega),$$

so that

 \oplus

$$|x(t)| \le \max\left(|x_0|, \sqrt[3]{\|u\|_{\infty}}\right), \, \forall t \in [0, \omega).$$

Corollary 2.2.1. Consider a function $z : [0, \omega) \subseteq \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$, where $\omega > 0$ may be infinite. Assume the following

1. The function z is absolutely continuous on each compact subset of $[0, \omega)$.

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model

2. There exist a class \mathcal{K}_{∞} function $\beta : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ and $z_1, z_2, z_3 \ge 0$ such that

$$\max\left(\beta^{-1}(z_{3}), z_{1}, z(0)\right) < z_{2},$$

and

 \oplus

$$\begin{cases} \dot{z}(t) \leq -\beta(z(t)) + z_3 \text{ for almost all} \\ t \in [0, \omega) \text{ that satisfy } z_1 < z(t) < z_2. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.20)$$

Then, $z(t) \le \max(z(0), z_1, \beta^{-1}(z_3)), \ \forall t \in [0, \omega).$

Proof. We have from (2.20) that

$$\dot{z}(t) \leq 0$$
 for almost all $t \in [0, \omega)$ that
satisfy max $\left(\beta^{-1}(z_3), z_1\right) < z(t) < z_2$,

and hence the result follows directly from Lemma 2.2.1.

The following Lemma is the main result of this chapter, where it proves the consistency and the strong consistency of the LuGre model (2.3)-(2.5).

Lemma 2.2.2. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ be such that \dot{u} is non-zero on a set $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ that satisfies $\mu(\rho_u(\mathbb{R}\setminus A)) = 0$. Then the following holds:

- There exist $E, \gamma_1 > 0$ such that $||F_{\gamma}||_{\infty} \leq E, \forall \gamma > \gamma_1.$
- The operator \mathcal{H}_o is consistent with respect to input u and initial condition x_0 , that is there exists a unique function $\varphi_u^* \in W^{1,\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - \varphi_u^* \right\|_{\infty, I_u} = 0,$$

where

$$\varphi_{u}^{*}(\varrho) = \sigma_{0} e^{\frac{-\sigma_{0}\varrho}{\mu(0)}} \left[x_{0} + \int_{0}^{\varrho} e^{\frac{\sigma_{0}\tau}{\mu(0)}} \dot{\psi}_{u}(\tau) d\tau \right] + \nu(0), \forall \varrho \in I_{u}.$$
(2.21)

 ${}^{3}F_{\gamma}$ is given in (2.12).

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Moreover, if u is T-periodic, then the operator \mathcal{H}_o is strongly consistent with respect to input u and initial condition x_0 . That is, there exists a unique function $\varphi_u^{\circ} \in W^{1,\infty}([0, \rho_u(T)], \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \left\| \varphi_{u,k}^* - \varphi_u^\circ \right\|_{\infty, [0,\rho_u(T)]} = 0,$$

where

Ì

$$\varphi_{u}^{\circ}\left(\varrho\right) = \sigma_{0} h_{\infty}\left(\varrho\right) + \nu\left(0\right), \forall \varrho \in \left[0, \rho_{u}\left(T\right)\right],$$
$$\dot{h}_{\infty}\left(\varrho\right) = -\frac{\sigma_{0}}{\mu\left(0\right)} h_{\infty}\left(\varrho\right) + \dot{\psi}_{u}\left(\varrho\right), \text{ for almost all } \varrho \in \left[0, \rho_{u}\left(T\right)\right]$$

In this case, $h_{\infty}(0)$ may be different than x_0 . Additionally, if the input u is wave periodic (see Definition 1.2.2), then we have

$$\varphi_{u}^{\circ}(0) = \mu\left(0\right) \left(2e^{\frac{\sigma_{0}\rho_{u}(T^{+})}{\mu(0)}} - 1 - e^{\frac{\sigma_{0}\rho_{u}(T)}{\mu(0)}}\right) \frac{1}{e^{\frac{\sigma_{0}\rho_{u}(T)}{\mu(0)}} - 1} + \nu\left(0\right), \qquad (2.22)$$

and

$$\varphi_{u}^{\circ}\left(\varrho\right) = \begin{cases} Q_{1}e^{\frac{-\sigma_{0}\varrho}{\mu\left(0\right)}} + \mu\left(0\right) + Q_{3}\left(\varrho\right) & \forall \varrho \in \left[0, \rho_{u}\left(T^{+}\right)\right] \\ Q_{2}e^{\frac{-\sigma_{0}\varrho}{\mu\left(0\right)}} - \mu\left(0\right) + Q_{3}\left(\varrho\right) & \forall \varrho \in \left[\rho_{u}\left(T^{+}\right), \rho_{u}\left(T\right)\right] \end{cases}$$

where

 \oplus

$$\begin{array}{rcl} Q_{1} & = & \varphi_{u}^{\circ}\left(0\right) - \mu\left(0\right) \\ Q_{2} & = & \varphi_{u}^{\circ}\left(0\right) + \mu\left(0\right)\left(2e^{\frac{\sigma_{0}\rho_{u}\left(T^{+}\right)}{\mu\left(0\right)}} - 1\right) \\ Q_{3}\left(\varrho\right) & = & \nu\left(0\right)\left(1 - e^{\frac{-\sigma_{0}\varrho}{\mu\left(0\right)}}\right), \forall \varrho \in [0, \rho_{u}\left(T\right)] \end{array}$$

Proof. Consider the linear system

$$\dot{h}(\varrho) = -\frac{\sigma_0}{\mu(0)}h(\varrho) + \dot{\psi}_u(\varrho), \forall \varrho \in I_u$$
(2.23)

$$h(0) = x_0,$$
 (2.24)

2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model

where state $h \in \mathbb{R}$. The solution of (2.23)-(2.24) is given by

$$h\left(\varrho\right) = \frac{\sigma_0}{\mu\left(0\right)} e^{-\sigma_0 \varrho/\mu\left(0\right)} \left[x_0 + \int_0^\varrho e^{\sigma_0 \tau/\mu\left(0\right)} \dot{\psi}_u\left(\varrho\right) d\tau \right], \forall \varrho \in I_u.$$
(2.25)

Consider the Lyapunov function $W: I_u \to \mathbb{R}_+$ with $W = h^2$. From (2.23)-(2.24) it follows that $W(0) = x_0^2$ and

$$\dot{W} = -\frac{2\sigma_0}{\mu\left(0\right)}W + 2\,\dot{\psi}_u\sqrt{W}$$

By Lemma 1.2.1 we have $\|\dot{\psi}_u\|_{\infty,I_u} = 1$ so that $\dot{W} \leq -\frac{2\sigma_0}{\mu(0)}W + 2\sqrt{W}$. This leads to $\dot{W} \leq 0$, whenever $W > \left(\frac{\mu(0)}{\sigma_0}\right)^2$. Using Lemma 2.2.1 it comes that $W \leq \max\left(x_0^2, \left(\frac{\mu(0)}{\sigma_0}\right)^2\right)$ so that

$$|h(\varrho)| \le \max\left(|x_0|, \frac{\mu(0)}{\sigma_0}\right), \forall \varrho \in I_u.$$
(2.26)

Claim 2. $\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \|\chi_{\gamma}\|_{\infty, I_u} = 0$, where $\chi_{\gamma} : I_u \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined a.e. as

$$\chi_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) = \frac{1}{\mu\left(\frac{v_{u}(\varrho)}{\gamma}\right)} - \frac{1}{\mu\left(0\right)}, \text{ for almost all } \varrho \in I_{u}.$$

Proof. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Since g is continuous and non-zero, we have $\lim_{\vartheta \to 0} \frac{1}{g(\vartheta)} = \frac{1}{g(0)}$. Hence there exists some $\delta_{\varepsilon} > 0$ that depend solely on ε , such that

$$\left|\frac{1}{\mu\left(\vartheta\right)} - \frac{1}{\mu\left(0\right)}\right| < \varepsilon, \text{ whenever } \vartheta \in \left(-\delta_{\varepsilon}, \delta_{\varepsilon}\right).$$
(2.27)

By Proposition 2.2.1 we have $||v_u||_{\infty,I_u} \leq ||\dot{u}||_{\infty}$. Thus there exists $\gamma_* > 0$ such that $||v_u||_{\infty,I_u} / \gamma < \delta_{\varepsilon}, \forall \gamma > \gamma_*$. Thus, we conclude from (2.27) that

$$\left|\frac{1}{\mu\left(v_{u}\left(\varrho\right)/\gamma\right)}-\frac{1}{\mu\left(0\right)}\right|<\varepsilon,\text{ for almost all }\varrho\in I_{u},\forall\gamma>\gamma_{*}$$

 \oplus

 $\mathbf{29}$

 \oplus

 \oplus

so that

$$|\chi_{\gamma}(\varrho)| < \varepsilon$$
, for almost all $\varrho \in I_u, \forall \gamma > \gamma_*,$

which completes the proof.

For any $\gamma > 0$, let $y_{\gamma} : I_u \to \mathbb{R}$ be defined as $y_{\gamma} = x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - h$, where $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}$ is given in (2.13)-(2.14) and h is given in (2.23)-(2.24). Since $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(0) = h(0) = x_0$, we have for all $\gamma > 0$ and for almost all $\varrho \in I_u$ that

$$\dot{y}_{\gamma}(\varrho) = \frac{-\sigma_{0}}{\mu\left(\frac{v_{u}(\varrho)}{\gamma}\right)} y_{\gamma}(\varrho) - \sigma_{0} \chi_{\gamma}(\varrho) h(\varrho), \qquad (2.28)$$

$$y_{\gamma}(0) = 0.$$
 (2.29)

For any $\gamma > 0$, consider the Lyapunov function $V_{\gamma} : I_u \to \mathbb{R}_+$ with $V_{\gamma}(\varrho) = y_{\gamma}^2(\varrho), \forall \varrho \in I_u$. By (2.28), the boundedness of v_u and (2.26), we have

$$\begin{cases} \dot{V}_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) \leq -2\frac{\sigma_{0}}{\mu\left(\frac{v_{u}\left(\varrho\right)}{\gamma}\right)}V_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) + D_{1}\left\|\chi_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty,I_{u}}\sqrt{V_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right)}\\ \forall \gamma > 0, \text{ for almost all } \varrho \in I_{u}. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.30)$$

where $D_1 = \sigma_0 \|h\|_{\infty, I_u} > 0$. On the other hand, since v_u is bounded and the function g is continuous and positive, there exists M > 0 such that

$$\mu\left(v_{u}\left(\varrho\right)/\gamma\right) > M, \text{ for almost all } \varrho \in I_{u}, \forall \gamma > 1.$$

$$(2.31)$$

Thus, we obtain from (2.30) that

$$\begin{cases} \dot{V}_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) \leq -\frac{2\sigma_{0}}{M}V_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) + D_{1}\left\|\chi_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty,I_{u}}\sqrt{V_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right)},\\ \forall \gamma > 1, \text{ for almost all } \varrho \in I_{u}. \end{cases}$$

so that

 \oplus

$$\begin{cases} \dot{V}_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) \leq 0, \text{ for almost all } \varrho \in I_{u}, \forall \gamma > 1\\ \text{that satisfy } V_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) > \left(\frac{D_{1}M\|\chi_{\gamma}\|_{\infty,I_{u}}}{2\sigma_{0}}\right)^{2}. \end{cases}$$
(2.32)

Therefore, the fact that $V_{\gamma}(0) = 0$ along with Lemma 2.2.1 imply that $V_{\gamma}(\varrho) \leq$

 \oplus

 \oplus

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_1 M \|\chi_{\gamma}\|_{\infty, I_u}}{2\sigma_0} \end{pmatrix}^2 \text{ for all } \gamma > 1 \text{ and almost all } \varrho \in I_u, \text{ and hence we obtain} \\ \begin{cases} |y_{\gamma}(\varrho)| = \left| x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho) - h(\varrho) \right| \leq \frac{M D_1}{2\sigma_0} \|\chi_{\gamma}\|_{\infty, I_u}, \\ \forall \gamma > 1, \text{ for almost all } \varrho \in I_u. \end{cases}$$

Thus we conclude from Claim 2 that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \|y_{\gamma}\|_{\infty, I_u} = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\|x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - h\right\|_{\infty, I_u} = 0.$$
(2.33)

On the other hand, we deduce from the continuity of x_{γ} that $||x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}||_{\infty, I_u} = ||x_{\gamma}||_{\infty}, \forall \gamma > 0$ (see Lemma 1.2.3). Thus (2.33) implies that there exists $\gamma_1 > 0$ with

$$\|x_{\gamma}\|_{\infty} = \|x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}\|_{\infty, I_{u}} < 1 + \|h\|_{\infty, I_{u}} = E_{1}, \,\forall \gamma > \gamma_{1}.$$
(2.34)

Thus, we get from equation (2.10), inequality (2.31) and the boundedness of \dot{u} , that \dot{x}_{γ} is bounded by a number that does not depend on γ . Therefore, by (2.12) and the continuity of ν , there exists some E > 0 such that

$$\|F_{\gamma}\|_{\infty} \le E, \,\forall \gamma > \gamma_1. \tag{2.35}$$

On the other hand, by (2.28), inequality (2.31) and the boundedness of h, there exist $D_2 > 0$ and $D_3 > 0$ such that for all $\gamma > \gamma_1$ we have

$$\left\|\dot{y}_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty,I_{u}} \le D_{2} \left\|y_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty,I_{u}} + D_{3} \left\|\chi_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty,I_{u}}$$

Thus, Claim 2 and (2.33) implies that

 \oplus

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \dot{y}_{\gamma} \right\|_{\infty, I_u} = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \dot{x}_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - \dot{h} \right\|_{\infty, I_u} = 0.$$

This means that $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}$ converges to h in $W^{1,\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$ as $\gamma \to \infty$ because of (2.33). Hence, (2.15), the boundedness of v_u and the continuity of ν imply that $\lim_{\gamma\to\infty} \left\|\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - \varphi_u^*\right\|_{\infty,I_u} = 0$ (convergence in $L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$), where $\varphi_u^* = \sigma_0 h + \nu (0) \in W^{1,\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$. This fact proves the first part of Lemma 2.2.2.

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

The LuGre friction model

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

Now, assume that the input u is T-periodic, then ψ_u and ψ_u are $\rho_u(T)$ -periodic (see Lemma 1.2.4). For any positive integer k, let

$$h_k(\varrho) = h(\rho_u(T)k + \varrho), \forall \varrho \in [0, \rho_u(T)].$$

The periodicity of $\dot{\psi}_u$ implies that the function h_k satisfies (2.23) for each k, with initial condition $h_k(0) = h(\rho_u(T)k)$. Let k_1, k_2 be positive integers. Let $V_{k_1,k_2} = (h_{k_1} - h_{k_2})^2$, then we have $\dot{V}_{k_1,k_2} = \frac{-2\sigma_0}{\mu(0)}V_{k_1,k_2}$, so that

$$V_{k_{1},k_{2}}(\varrho) = V_{k_{1},k_{2}}(0) e^{\frac{-2\sigma_{0}}{\mu(0)}\varrho}, \forall \varrho \in [0,\rho_{u}(T)].$$
(2.36)

Therefore, we get

 \oplus

$$V_{k_{1},k_{2}}\left(\rho_{u}\left(T\right)\right) = V_{k_{1},k_{2}}\left(0\right)\beta,$$

where $\beta = e^{-2\rho_u(T)\sigma_0/\mu(0)} \in (0, 1)$. Observe that $V_{k_1,k_2}(\rho_u(T)) = V_{k_1+1,k_2+1}(0)$ so that $V_{k_1+1,k_2+1}(0) = \beta V_{k_1,k_2}(0)$. Therefore, it can be verified by induction that

$$V_{k_1,k_2}(0) \le \beta^{\min\{k_1,k_2\}} D_4,$$

where D_4 is a positive constant that depends on $||h||_{\infty}$. This means that $V_{k_1,k_2}(0)$ converges to 0 as k_1 and k_2 go to ∞ . Thus, we obtain from (2.36) that

$$||V_{k_1,k_2}||_{\infty,[0,\rho_u(T)]} \to 0$$
, as $k_1, k_2 \to \infty$,

which means that the sequence of functions h_k is a Cauchy sequence in the Banach space $C^0([0, \rho_u(T)], \mathbb{R})$. This implies the sequence h_k converges with respect to the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,[0,\rho_u(T)]}$ to a continuous function h_∞ . By applying the Dominated Lebesgue Convergence Theorem (see Theorem 1.1.1) in equation (2.23) written in the integral form, we deduce that h_∞ satisfies the same equation (2.23). Hence $\varphi_u^{\circ} \in W^{1,\infty}([0, \rho_u(T)], \mathbb{R})$. Observe that $h_\infty(0)$ may be different than x_0 . As a conclusion we obtain

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \left\| \varphi_{u,k}^* - \varphi_u^{\circ} \right\|_{\infty, [0, \rho_u(T)]} = 0$$

2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model

where $\varphi_u^{\circ}(\varrho) = \sigma_0 h_{\infty}(\varrho) + \nu(0), \forall \varrho \in [0, \rho_u(T)]$ which ends the proof of the second part of Lemma 2.2.2. On the other hand, if the input u is wave periodic, Lemma 1.2.4 states that ψ_u is also wave periodic and $\dot{\psi}_u(\varrho) = 1$ for almost all $\varrho \in (0, \rho_u(T^+))$ and $\dot{\psi}_u(\varrho) = -1$ for almost all $\varrho \in (\rho_u(T^+), \rho_u(T))$. Thus, we obtain from (2.25) for any positive integer k that

$$h(\rho_u(T)k) = e^{-\sigma_0\rho_u(T)k/\mu(0)} [x_0 + R_k], \qquad (2.37)$$

where

 \oplus

 \oplus

$$R_{k} = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left[\int_{\rho_{u}(T)(j-1)+\rho_{u}(T^{+})}^{\rho_{u}(T^{+})} e^{\sigma_{0}\tau/\mu(0)} d\tau - \int_{\rho_{u}(T)(j-1)+\rho_{u}(T^{+})}^{\rho_{u}(T)j} e^{\sigma_{0}\tau/\mu(0)} d\tau \right]$$
$$= \frac{\mu(0)}{\sigma_{0}} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left[e^{c(j-1)} \left(2e^{\frac{\sigma_{0}+\rho_{u}(T^{+})}{\mu(0)}} - 1 \right) - e^{cj} \right].$$

with $c = \sigma_0 \rho_u(T) / \mu(0) > 0$. Hence we deduce from (2.37) that

$$h(\rho_u(T)k) = x_0 e^{-ck} + \frac{\mu(0)}{\sigma_0} \left[\left(2e^{\frac{\sigma_0 + \rho_u(T^+)}{\mu(0)}} - 1 \right) e^{-ck} \sum_{j=1}^k e^{c(j-1)} - e^{-ck} \sum_{j=1}^k e^{cj} \right].$$
(2.38)

It can be checked that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} e^{-ck} \sum_{j=1}^{k} e^{c(j-1)} = \frac{1}{e^c - 1}.$$

Therefore, we obtain from (2.38) that

$$h_{\infty}(0) = \lim_{k \to \infty} h\left(\rho_u(T)\,k\right) = \frac{\mu(0)}{\sigma_0\left(e^c - 1\right)} \left(2e^{\frac{\sigma_0\rho_u(T^+)}{\mu(0)}} - 1 - e^c\right)$$

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

The LuGre friction model

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

From the relation $\varphi^{\circ}(\varrho) = \sigma_0 h_{\infty}(\varrho) + \nu(0), \forall \varrho \in I_u$ it follows that

$$\varphi^{\circ}(0) = \sigma_0 h_{\infty}(0) + \nu(0) = \frac{\mu(0)}{e^c - 1} \left(2e^{\frac{\sigma_0 \rho_u(T^+)}{\mu(0)}} - 1 - e^c \right) + \nu(0),$$

where $c = \sigma_0 \rho_u(T) / \mu(0)$.

Observe that the function h_k satisfies (2.23) for each k. Thus, using the Dominated Lebesgue Theorem in equation (2.23) written in the integral form, we deduce that h_{∞} satisfies the same equation (2.23). Thus, we have

$$h_{\infty}\left(\varrho\right) = e^{\frac{-\sigma_{0}\varrho}{\mu(0)}} \left[h_{\infty}\left(0\right) + \int_{0}^{\varrho} e^{\frac{\sigma_{0}\tau}{\mu(0)}} d\tau\right], \forall \varrho \in \left[0, \rho_{u}\left(T^{+}\right)\right],$$

$$\begin{cases} \forall \varrho \in \left[\rho_u\left(T^+\right), \rho_u\left(T\right)\right] \text{ we have} \\ h_\infty\left(\varrho\right) = e^{\frac{-\sigma_0\varrho}{\mu(0)}} \left[h_\infty\left(0\right) + \int_0^{\rho_u\left(T^+\right)} e^{\frac{\sigma_0\tau}{\mu(0)}} d\tau - \int_{\rho_u\left(T^+\right)}^{\varrho} e^{\frac{\sigma_0\tau}{\mu(0)}} d\tau \right] \end{cases}$$

so that

 \oplus

$$h_{\infty}(\varrho) = e^{\frac{-\sigma_{0}\varrho}{\mu(0)}} \left[h_{\infty}(0) + \frac{\mu(0)}{\sigma_{0}} \left(e^{\frac{\sigma_{0}\varrho}{\mu(0)}} - 1 \right) \right], \forall \varrho \in \left[0, \rho_{u}\left(T^{+}\right) \right]$$

$$\begin{cases} \forall \varrho \in \left[\rho_u\left(T^+\right), \rho_u\left(T\right)\right] \text{ we have} \\ h_{\infty}\left(\varrho\right) = e^{\frac{-\sigma_0\varrho}{\mu(0)}} \left[h_{\infty}\left(0\right) + \frac{\mu(0)}{\sigma_0}\left(2e^{\frac{\sigma_0\rho_u\left(T^+\right)}{\mu(0)}} - e^{\frac{\sigma_0\varrho}{\mu(0)}} - 1\right)\right] \end{cases}$$

The last part of Lemma 2.2.2 follows from the relation $\varphi^{\circ}(\varrho) = \sigma_0 h_{\infty}(\varrho) + \nu(0), \forall \varrho \in I_u.$

Example 2.2.3. Consider the LuGre model (2.3)-(2.5) with $\nu(\vartheta)$ taking the form $\nu(\vartheta) = \sigma_2 \vartheta, \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, where the parameter σ_2 is the viscous friction coefficient. A possible choice for $\mu(\vartheta)$ that leads to a reasonable approximation of the Stribeck effect is [25]:

$$\mu\left(\vartheta\right) = F_C + \left(F_S - F_C\right) e^{-\left|\vartheta/v_s\right|^{\alpha}}, \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}, \tag{2.39}$$

2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model

 \oplus

 \oplus



Figure 2.7: Left input u(t) versus t. Right $g(\vartheta)$ versus ϑ in Example 2.

where $F_C > 0$ is the Coulomb friction force, $F_S > 0$ is the stiction force, $v_s > 0$ is the Stribeck velocity, and α is a positive constant.

Take $\sigma_0 = 4$ N/m, $v_S = 0.001$ m/s, $F_S = 3$ N, $F_C = 1$ N, $\sigma_1 = 1$ N.s/m, $\sigma_2 = 1$ N.s/m, and x(0) = 0 m. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ be the wave periodic function of period T = 2 s and with $T^+ = 1$ s, such that u(t) = t (in meters), $\forall t \in [0, 1]$ s, and u(t) = 2 - t, $\forall t \in [1, 2]$ s. Then ρ_u is the identity mapping and hence $I_u = \mathbb{R}_+$, $\psi_u = u$ and $v_u = \dot{u}$ a.e. Note that $T = \rho_u(T) = 2$ and $T^+ = \rho_u(T^+) = 1$. The input u is presented in Figure 2.7 left, and the graph of the function g is given in Figure 2.7 right.

Lemma 2.2.2 implies that the operator \mathcal{H}_o is consistent with respect to input u and initial condition x_0 ; that is

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - \varphi_u^* \right\|_{\infty, I_u} = 0,$$

where the function $\varphi_u^* \in W^{1,\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$ is defined as

$$\varphi_u^*\left(\varrho\right) = 4e^{-\frac{4}{3}\varrho} \int_0^\varrho e^{4\tau/3} \dot{\psi}_u\left(\tau\right) d\tau, \forall \varrho \in I_u = \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Moreover, the operator \mathcal{H}_o is strongly consistent with respect to input u and

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus



Figure 2.8: $\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho)$ versus ϱ for different values of γ .



Figure 2.9: $\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho)$ versus $\psi_u(\varrho)$ for different values of γ .

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

2.2 Consistency of the LuGre model





(a) $\varphi_u^*(\varrho)$ versus ϱ (the limit function (b) $\varphi_u^*(\varrho)$ versus $\psi_u(\varrho)$ (the limiting in Figure 2.8). curve in Figure 2.9).



Figure 2.10: LuGre friction model in Example 2.2.3

initial condition x_0 ; that is $\lim_{k\to\infty} \left\| \varphi_{u,k}^* - \varphi_u^\circ \right\|_{\infty,[0,2]} = 0$, where

$$\varphi^{\circ}(0) = \frac{3}{e^{\frac{8}{3}} - 1} \left(2e^{\frac{4}{3}} - 1 - e^{\frac{8}{3}} \right) \approx -1.7483488,$$

and

 \oplus

 \oplus

$$\varphi^{\circ}(\varrho) = \begin{cases} e^{\frac{-4\varrho}{3}} \left[\varphi^{\circ}(0) - 3\right] + 3 & \varrho \in [0, 1] \\ e^{\frac{-4\varrho}{3}} \left[\varphi^{\circ}(0) + 6e^{\frac{4}{3}} - 3\right] - 3 & \varrho \in [1, 2] \end{cases}$$

Figure 2.8 shows the uniform convergence of $\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}$ to φ_{u}^{*} as $\gamma \to \infty$. The limit function φ_{u}^{*} is plotted alone in Figure 2.10a. Figure 2.9 shows that the graphs $\{(\varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho), \psi_{u}(\varrho)), \varrho \in I_{u} = \mathbb{R}_{+}\}$ converge as $\gamma \to \infty$ to the set $\{(\varphi_{u}^{*}(\varrho), \psi_{u}(\varrho)), \varrho \in I_{u} = \mathbb{R}_{+}\}$. Figure 2.10b presents the limiting curve $\{(\varphi_{u}^{*}(\varrho), \psi_{u}(\varrho)), \varrho \in I_{u} = \mathbb{R}_{+}\}$. Figure 2.10d shows the plot of hysteresis loop $\{(\varphi_{u}^{\circ}(\varrho), \psi_{u}(\varrho)), \varrho \in [0, \rho_{u}(T)] = [0, 2]\}$. Figure 2.10c presents the function $\varphi_{u}^{\circ}(\varrho)$ versus ϱ . Observe that $\varphi_{u}^{\circ}(0) \approx -1.7483488$ is different than $\varphi_{u}^{*}(0) = 0$. \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

The LuGre friction model

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

2.3 Conclusions

In this chapter, LuGre model is seen as an operator \mathcal{H} that associates to an input u and initial condition x_0 an output $\mathcal{H}(u, x_0)$, all belonging to some appropriate spaces. Following the research carried out in [52], the consistency and strong consistency of the operator are analyzed. The main results of the paper are given in Lemma 3.5.3. To illustrate these results, numerical simulations are carried out in Example 2.2.3.

38

 \oplus

Æ

 \oplus

The generalized Duhem model

⊕

⊕

 \oplus

3.1 Introduction

 \oplus

In 1897, Duhem [34] proposed an ordinary differential equation-based model that exhibits hysteresis. This model, widely used in structural, electrical and mechanical engineering, gives an analytical description of a smooth hysteretic behavior. It has been used to represent friction [77], hysteresis in magnetorheological dampers [86], and to represent a jump-resonance hysteresis ¹ in Duffing oscillator [77].

In its most general form, Duhem model is given by [78]:

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t), u(t)) g(\dot{u}(t)),$$
(3.1)

$$x(0) = x_0,$$
 (3.2)

for almost all $t \ge 0$, x_0 and state x(t) take values in \mathbb{R}^m for some positive integer m, input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$, function $f : \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^{m \times r}$ is continuous, and function $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^r$ is continuous with $g(0) = \mathbf{0}$, where r and m are positive integers.

Specializations of this general form are the semilinear Duhem model $\dot{x} = (Ax + Bu) g(\dot{u})$ [72], the model $\dot{x} = f_1(x, u) \max(\dot{u}, 0) + f_2(x, u) \min(\dot{u}, 0)$ [69, 66, 50, 51], and the Bouc-Wen model for hysteresis [99, 21, 20, 55, 53].

¹Jump-resonance is a phenomenon observed in nonlinear systems where the output exhibits abrupt jumps when the frequency of the input signal varies

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

Other specialization of Duhem model are Dahl model [29, 30], Maxwell-slip model [78, 5, 84], and LuGre model [25, 78].

This chapter gives a characterization of different classes of Duhem models in terms of their consistency with the hysteresis behavior. It is organized as follows. The problem statement is formalized in Section 3.2. A classification of functions g that is used throughout the paper, is introduced in Section 3.3. Sections 3.4 and 3.5 present necessary conditions and sufficient ones for the Duhem model to be consistent with the hysteresis behavior. Conclusions are given in Section 3.6.

3.2 Problem statement

First of all, we need to prove the existence of solution for the system (3.1)-(3.2) which is done in the coming passage.

Since g is continuous and $\dot{u} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$, we have $g \circ \dot{u} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$. The differential equation (3.1) satisfies Carathéodory conditions, thus, for each initial state $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$, (3.1) has an absolutely continuous solution that is defined on an interval of the form [0, T), T > 0 [39, p.4] (see Theorems 1.1.2 and 1.1.3).

Consider the time scale change $s_{\gamma}(t) = t/\gamma, \gamma > 0, t \ge 0$. When the input $u \circ s_{\gamma}$ is used instead of u, the system (3.1)-(3.2) becomes

$$\dot{x}_{\gamma}(t) = f(x_{\gamma}(t), u \circ s_{\gamma}(t)) g\left(\frac{1}{\gamma} \dot{u} \circ s_{\gamma}(t)\right), \qquad (3.3)$$

$$x_{\gamma}(0) = x_0. \tag{3.4}$$

When $\gamma = 1$, system (3.3)-(3.4) reduces to (3.1)-(3.2). For any $\gamma > 0$, define $\sigma_{\gamma} : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^m$ as $\sigma_{\gamma} = x_{\gamma} \circ s_{1/\gamma}$. System (3.3)-(3.4) can be re-written as:

$$\sigma_{\gamma}(t) = x_0 + \gamma \int_{0}^{t} f(\sigma_{\gamma}(\tau), u(\tau)) g\left(\frac{1}{\gamma} \dot{u}(\tau)\right) d\tau, \qquad (3.5)$$

 \oplus

3.2 Problem statement

of existence of the solution σ_{γ} .

 \oplus

 \oplus

Observe that Lemma 1.2.3 implies that for any $\gamma > 0$ there exists a unique function $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \in L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R}^m)$ such that $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} = x_{\gamma}$ (when $\gamma = 1$, we get $x_u \circ \rho_u = x$). The latter equality is equivalent to $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_u = \sigma_{\gamma}$. According to Definition 1.2.1, the system (3.1)-(3.2) is consistent with respect to (u, x_0) if and only if the sequence of functions $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}$ converges in $L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R}^m)$.

Proposition 3.2.1. The system (3.1)-(3.2) is consistent with respect to (u, x_0) in the sense of Definition (1.2.1) if and only if the sequence of function σ_{γ} converges in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$ as $\gamma \to \infty$.

Proof. To prove the if part, define the causal operator $\mathcal{H}: W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathbb{R}^m \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$ that maps (u, x_0) to x, where x is given in (3.1)-(3.2). Assume that there exists $\sigma^* \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$ such that $\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \|\sigma_{\gamma} - \sigma^*\|_{\infty} = 0$. We know from equation (3.5), that σ_{γ} is a sequence of continuous functions. Thus, the function σ^* is continuous as a uniform limit of continuous function. Lemma 1.2.3 implies that there exists a unique continuous function $x_u^* \in L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R}^m)$ such that $x_u^* \circ \rho_u = \sigma^*$. Let $\varrho \in I_u$. Since ρ_u is continuous, there exists some $t \geq 0$ such that $\varrho = \rho_u(t)$. We get from the relation $\sigma_{\gamma} = x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_u$ that for all $\gamma > 0$: $|x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho) - x_u^*(\varrho)| = |x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_u(t) - x_u^* \circ \rho_u(t)| \leq \|\sigma_{\gamma} - \sigma^*\|_{\infty}$. This implies that

$$\left\|x_{u\circ s_{\gamma}}-x_{u}^{*}\right\|_{\infty,I_{u}}\leq\left\|\sigma_{\gamma}-\sigma^{*}\right\|_{\infty},$$

so that $\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - x_{u}^{*} \right\|_{\infty, I_{u}} = 0$, which means that the system (3.1)-(3.2) is consistent with respect to (u, x_{0}) .

To prove the only if part, assume that $\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - x_{u}^{*} \right\|_{\infty, I_{u}} = 0$, then the relation $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_{u} = \sigma_{\gamma}$ implies that for almost all $t \ge 0$:

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\sigma_{\gamma}\left(t\right) - x_{u}^{*} \circ \rho_{u}\left(t\right)\right| &= \left|x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_{u}\left(t\right) - x_{u}^{*} \circ \rho_{u}\left(t\right)\right| \\ &\leq \left\|x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - x_{u}^{*}\right\|_{\infty, I_{u}}. \end{aligned}$$

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

The generalized Duhem model

Thus, we have $\|\sigma_{\gamma} - x_u^* \circ \rho_u\|_{\infty} \le \|x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - x_u^*\|_{\infty, I_u}$ so that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \sigma_{\gamma} - x_u^* \circ \rho_u \right\|_{\infty} = 0$$

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

Proposition 3.2.1 implies that the consistency of the system (3.1)-(3.2) can be investigated by studying the uniform convergence of the sequence of functions σ_{γ} instead of $x_{u\circ s_{\gamma}}$. Thus we know from Definition (1.2.1) that the system (3.1)-(3.2) is a hysteresis only if σ_{γ} converges uniformly as $\gamma \to \infty$.

Problem statement: In this chapter, our objective is to derive necessary conditions and sufficient ones for the uniform convergence of the sequence of functions σ_{γ} as $\gamma \to \infty$.

The generalized Duhem model represents a wide class of systems and thus we introduced a classification for this system to study the consistency in all possible cases. This classification is presented in the next section (Section 3.3).

3.3 Classification of the function g

This section introduces a classification for the function g that is used throughout this Chapter.

Definition 3.3.1. Let $G \in C^0([t_1, t_2], \mathbb{R})^2$. The right and left local fractional derivative of G at $t_3 \in (t_1, t_2)$ with respect to order $\lambda > 0$ are defined respectively as: [3]

$$d_{+}^{\lambda}G(t_{3}) = \Gamma(1+\lambda) \lim_{\kappa \to t_{3}+} \frac{G(\kappa) - G(t_{3})}{(\kappa - t_{3})^{\lambda}} \in \mathbb{R},$$
$$d_{-}^{\lambda}G(t_{3}) = \Gamma(1+\lambda) \lim_{\kappa \to t_{3}-} \frac{G(t_{3}) - G(\kappa)}{(t_{3}-\kappa)^{\lambda}} \in \mathbb{R},$$

 ${}^{2}C^{0}\left(\left[t_{1},t_{2}\right],\mathbb{R}\right)=\left\{p:\left[t_{1},t_{2}\right]\rightarrow\mathbb{R}\text{ such that }p\text{ is continuous on }\left[t_{1},t_{2}\right]\right\}$

42

 \oplus

3.3 Classification of the function g

 \oplus

where Γ is the gamma function (see Definition 1.1.5).

The local fractional derivative of a vector-valued function is the vector of local fractional derivatives of its components.

Definition 3.3.2. The function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is said to be of class $\lambda > 0$ if $g(0) = \mathbf{0}$ and the quantities $d^{\lambda}_+ g(0), d^{\lambda}_- g(0)$ exist, are finite, and at least one of them is nonzero.

Example 3.3.1. Let k be a positive integer. Define $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ as $g(\vartheta) = \vartheta^k, \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$. The function g is of class $\lambda = k$ because the limit $\lim_{\kappa \to 0} g(\kappa) / \kappa^k$ exists and equals 1 so that both $d^{\lambda}_+ g(0), d^{\lambda}_- g(0)$ exist, are finite, and are nonzero.

Example 3.3.2. The zero function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ is not of any class because

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0+} g(\kappa) / \kappa^{\lambda} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0-} g(\kappa) / \kappa^{\lambda} = 0, \forall \lambda > 0.$$

3.3.1 Determination the class of the function g

In this subsection, we provide a procedure for determining the class of a function g. To this end, let $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ satisfies $g(0) = \mathbf{0}$. Define

$$S = \left\{ j_1 \in \{0, 1, 2, \ldots\} \not \forall i \in \{0, 1, \ldots, j_1\} \right\}$$

we have $g^{(i)}$ exist and $g^{(i)}(0) = \mathbf{0} \right\}.$ (3.6)

The set S is nonempty because $0 \in S$. Note that when g is the zero function, $S = \mathbb{N}$, where \mathbb{N} is the set of positive integers. We assume that S is finite and hence $j = \sup S \in S$.

Case I: If j = 0.

 \oplus

For this case, we present the following propositions.

 \oplus

⊕

⊕

Proposition 3.3.1. The function g is of class $\lambda \in (0,1)$ iff there exist constants $\nu > 0$, $b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{R}^r$; at least one of the vectors b_1, b_2 is non-zero, and functions $Q_1, Q_2 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^r$ such that

$$g(\vartheta) = \begin{cases} b_1 \vartheta^{\lambda} + Q_1(\vartheta) & \vartheta \in (0,\nu) \\ b_2(-\vartheta)^{\lambda} + Q_2(\vartheta) & \vartheta \in (-\nu,0) \end{cases}$$

where $\lim_{\kappa \to 0^+} Q_1(\kappa) / \kappa^{\lambda} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0^-} Q_2(\kappa) / (-\kappa)^{\lambda} = \mathbf{0}.$

Proof. The result follows from the fractional Taylor's expansion in [3]. \Box

Proposition 3.3.2. For a function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$, assume that $g'_+(0)$ and $g'_-(0)$ exist, are finite, and at least one of them is nonzero. Then the function g is of class $\lambda = 1$, and

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right) = \begin{cases} g'_+(0)\,\vartheta & \vartheta \ge 0\\ g'_-(0)\,\vartheta & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

which implies that: if g'(0) exists, then

$$\forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}, we have \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right) = g'(0) \vartheta.$$

Proof. The result comes directly from Proposition 3.3.7.

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

Case II: If j > 0 and $g^{(j+1)}(0)$ exists and finite.

For this case, we introduce the following lemma.

Proposition 3.3.3. Assume that $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ has finite $n \in \mathbb{N}$ derivative $g^{(n)}$ everywhere in an interval $(-\nu, \nu)$, $\nu > 0$ so that j + 1 < n. Then the function g is of class $\lambda = j + 1$, and for all $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^{j+1} g\left(\vartheta/\gamma \right) = \frac{g^{(j+1)}\left(0\right)}{(j+1)!} \vartheta^{j+1}.$$

 \oplus

3.3 Classification of the function g

Proof. We get from Taylor expansion with remainder [6] that there exist $\vartheta_1 \in (-\nu, \nu)$ such that $\forall \vartheta \in (-\nu, \nu)$:

$$g(\vartheta) = \frac{g^{(j+1)}(0)}{(j+1)!} \vartheta^{j+1} + \frac{g^{(j+2)}(0)}{(j+2)!} \vartheta^{j+2} \dots + \frac{g^{(n)}(\vartheta_1)}{n!} \vartheta^n,$$

where $g^{(n)}(\vartheta_1)$ is bounded. Proposition 3.3.7 and the fact that $g^{(j+1)}(0) \neq \mathbf{0}$ complete the proof.

Case III: If j > 0 and $g^{(j+1)}(0)$ does not exist or diverges.

Proposition 3.3.4. Assume that the function $g^{(j)}$ is of class $\mu \in (0, 1)^{-3}$; that is there exist constants $\nu > 0$, $b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{R}^r$; at least one of the vectors b_1, b_2 is non-zero, and functions $Q_1, Q_2 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^r$ such that

$$g^{(j)}(\vartheta) = \begin{cases} b_1 \vartheta^{\lambda} + Q_1(\vartheta) & \vartheta \in (0,\nu) \\ b_2(-\vartheta)^{\lambda} + Q_2(\vartheta) & \vartheta \in (-\nu,0) \end{cases}$$

where $\lim_{\kappa\to 0+} Q_1(\kappa) / \kappa^{\lambda} = \lim_{\kappa\to 0-} Q_2(\kappa) / (-\kappa)^{\lambda} = \mathbf{0}$. Suppose that the quantities $d^{\mu}_{+}g^{(j)}(\vartheta)$ and $d^{\mu}_{-}g^{(j)}(\vartheta)$ exist on an interval $(-\nu,\nu)$, $\nu > 0$. Then, the function g is of class $\lambda = j + \mu$ and for all $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$: $\lim_{\gamma\to\infty} \gamma^{j+\mu}g(\vartheta/\gamma) = g^*(\vartheta)$, where $g^* \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is defined as

$$g^*(\vartheta) = \begin{cases} \frac{d^{\mu}_{+}g^{(j)}(0)}{\Gamma(j+1+\mu)}\vartheta^{j+\mu} & \vartheta \ge 0\\ -\frac{d^{\mu}_{-}g^{(j)}(0)}{\Gamma(j+1+\mu)}(-\vartheta)^{j+\mu} & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

Proof. We obtain from the fractional Taylor's theorem [3] that

$$g\left(\vartheta\right) = \begin{cases} \frac{d_{+}^{\mu}g^{(j)}(0)}{\Gamma(j+1+\mu)}\vartheta^{j+\mu} + Q_{1}\left(\vartheta\right) & \vartheta \in (0,\nu) \\ -\frac{d_{-}^{\mu}g^{(j)}(0)}{\Gamma(j+1+\mu)}\left(-\vartheta\right)^{j+\mu} + Q_{2}\left(\vartheta\right) & \vartheta \in (-\nu,0) \end{cases}$$

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

³look at Proposition 3.3.1.

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

 \oplus

for some $\nu > 0$, where

$$\frac{Q_1\left(\vartheta\right)}{\vartheta^{j+\mu}} \to 0 \text{ as } \vartheta \to 0^+ \text{ and } \frac{Q_2\left(\vartheta\right)}{\left(-\vartheta\right)^{j+\mu}} \to 0 \text{ as } \vartheta \to 0^-.$$

Thus, the function g is of class $j + \mu$, and we have

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^{j+\mu} g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right) = \begin{cases} \frac{\Gamma(1+\mu)b_1}{\Gamma(j+1+\mu)} \vartheta^{j+\mu} & \vartheta \ge 0\\ -\frac{\Gamma(1+\mu)b_2}{\Gamma(j+1+\mu)} \left(-\vartheta\right)^{j+\mu} & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

Example 3.3.3. Define $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ as $g(\vartheta) = \vartheta^{2/3} + 2\vartheta \cos(\vartheta^2), \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$. Since g'(0) does not exist, we have $S = \{0\}$ and hence j = Sup S = 0, so we are case I. It can be easily shown that $\lim_{\vartheta \to 0} 2\kappa \cos(\kappa^2) / |\kappa|^{2/3} = 0$, all conditions of Proposition 3.3.1 are satisfied with $\lambda = 2/3$, r = 1, $b_1 = b_2 = 1$, and $Q_1(\vartheta) = Q_2(\vartheta) = 2\vartheta \cos(\vartheta^2), \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus, the function g is of class $\lambda = 2/3$.

Example 3.3.4. Let $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ be defined as $g(\vartheta) = \sin(\vartheta) + \vartheta, \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$. We have g(0) = 0 and $g'(0) = \cos(0) + 1 = 2$. Thus, we get from (3.6) that $S = \{0\}$ and hence j = Sup S = 0. This means that we are in case I. Since g'(0) exists and is equal to 2, we deduce from Proposition 3.3.2 that g is of class $\lambda = 1$, and

$$\forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}, we have \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right) = 2\vartheta.$$

Example 3.3.5. Define $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ as $g(\vartheta) = \cos(\vartheta) + \vartheta^2/2 - 1, \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$. It can be easily verified that g(0) = g'(0) = g''(0) = g'''(0) = 0 and $g^{(4)}(0) = 1 \neq 0$. Thus, we get $S = \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ and hence j = 3. Since $g^{(4)}(0)$ exists and finite, we are case II. All conditions of Proposition 3.3.3 are satisfied because the function g is infinitely many differentiable on its domain. Thus, g is of

46

3.3 Classification of the function g

class $\lambda = j + 1 = 4$, and for all $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^4 g\left(\vartheta/\gamma\right) = \frac{g^{(4)}\left(0\right)}{24} \vartheta^4.$$

Example 3.3.6. Let $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ such that $g(\vartheta) = \frac{3}{5}\vartheta^{5/3} + \sin(\vartheta^2), \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$. We have g'(0) exists and equals 0 but g''(0) does not exists. Thus, we obtain $S = \{0, 1\}$ so that j = Sup S = 1. This means that we are case III. The derivative function of the g is function studied in Example 3.3.3. Thus, using the result of Example 3.3.3, we get that the function g' is of class $\mu = 2/3$ with $b_1 = b_2 = 1$. It can be easily seen that all conditions of Proposition 3.3.1 are satisfied. Thus, the function g is of class $\lambda = j + \mu = 5/3$ with

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^{\frac{5}{3}} g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right) = \begin{cases} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{5}{3})}{\Gamma(\frac{8}{3})} \vartheta^{\frac{5}{3}} & \vartheta \ge 0\\ \frac{-\Gamma(\frac{5}{3})}{\Gamma(\frac{8}{3})} (-\vartheta)^{\frac{5}{3}} & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases} = \begin{cases} \frac{3}{5} \vartheta^{\frac{5}{3}} & \vartheta \ge 0\\ \frac{-3}{5} (-\vartheta)^{\frac{5}{3}} & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

Proposition 3.3.5. Let $g, g_1, g_2 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ be such that

$$g\left(\vartheta\right) = \begin{cases} g_1\left(\vartheta\right) & \vartheta \ge 0\\ g_2\left(\vartheta\right) & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

Define $G_1, G_2 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ for any $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$ as

$$G_1(\vartheta) = g_1(|\vartheta|) \text{ and } G_2(\vartheta) = g_2(-|\vartheta|).$$

Assume that the functions G_1 and G_2 are respectively of class λ_1 and λ_2 . Then the function g is of class min (λ_1, λ_2) .

Proof. We have

 \oplus

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \frac{G_1(\kappa)}{(-\kappa)^{\lambda_1}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \frac{g_1(-\kappa)}{(-\kappa)^{\lambda_1}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{+}} \frac{g_1(\kappa)}{\kappa^{\lambda_1}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{+}} \frac{G_1(\kappa)}{\kappa^{\lambda_1}},$$
$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0^{+}} \frac{G_2(\kappa)}{\kappa^{\lambda_2}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{+}} \frac{g_2(-\kappa)}{\kappa^{\lambda_2}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \frac{g_2(\kappa)}{(-\kappa)^{\lambda_2}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \frac{G_2(\kappa)}{(-\kappa)^{\lambda_2}}$$

 $\mathbf{47}$

The generalized Duhem model

Thus, we get

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0+} \frac{g_1(\kappa)}{\kappa^{\lambda_1}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0} \frac{G_1(\kappa)}{|\kappa|^{\lambda_1}},\tag{3.7}$$

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \frac{g_2(\kappa)}{(-\kappa)^{\lambda_2}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{+}} \frac{G_2(\kappa)}{|\kappa|^{\lambda_2}}.$$
(3.8)

Without loss of generality, assume that $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$. Then, we deduce from (3.7)-(3.8) that ⁴

$$d_{+}^{\lambda_{1}}g(0) = d_{+}^{\lambda_{1}}G_{1}(0) = d_{-}^{\lambda_{1}}G_{1}(0) \neq \mathbf{0},$$
$$d_{-}^{\lambda_{1}}g(0) = \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \frac{g_{2}(\kappa)}{(-\kappa)^{\lambda_{1}}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0} |\kappa|^{\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{1}} \frac{g_{2}(\kappa)}{|\kappa|^{\lambda_{2}}} = 0 \times \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \frac{g_{2}(\kappa)}{|\kappa|^{\lambda_{2}}} = \mathbf{0}.$$

which completes the proof.

Example 3.3.7. Define $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ as

$$g(\vartheta) = \begin{cases} \sin(\vartheta) + \vartheta & \vartheta \ge 0\\ \cos(\vartheta) + \vartheta^2/2 - 1 & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

then, the functions $g_1, g_2 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ are given for any $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$ by $g_1(\vartheta) = \sin(\vartheta) + \vartheta$ and $g_2(\vartheta) = \cos(\vartheta) + \vartheta^2/2 - 1$. Thus, the functions $G_1, G_2 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ are given for any $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$ by

$$G_1(\vartheta) = g_1(|\vartheta|) = \sin(\vartheta) + \vartheta,$$
$$G_2(\vartheta) = g_2(-|\vartheta|) = \cos(\vartheta) + \vartheta^2/2 - 1.$$

Examples 3.3.4 and 3.3.5 proved that the functions G_1 and G_2 are respectively of class $\lambda_1 = 1$ and $\lambda_2 = 4$. Thus, we deduce from Proposition 3.3.5 that the function g is of class $\lambda = \min(\lambda_1, \lambda_2) = 1$.

To determine the class of more complicated functions, we introduce the following lemma:

 $\mathbf{48}$

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 $^{{}^{4}}d_{+}^{\lambda_{1}}G_{1}(0) = d_{-}^{\lambda_{1}}G_{1}(0) \neq 0$ because the function G_{1} is of class λ_{1} and because of the symmetry property the function has.

 \oplus

Lemma 3.3.1. Assume that the functions $g_1, g_2 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ are of class λ_1, λ_2 respectively. Then, we have

- 1. The functions $|g_1|$ and bg_1 are of class λ_1 for any nonzero constant $b \in \mathbb{R}$.
- 2. The function $g_1 + g_2$ is of class $\min(\lambda_1, \lambda_2)$ if $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$.
- 3. The function g_1g_2 is of class $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2$ if at most one of the vectors $d^{\lambda_1}_+g_1(0)$, $d^{\lambda_1}_-g_1(0)$, $d^{\lambda_2}_+g_2(0)$, and $d^{\lambda_2}_-g_2(0)$ is zero.
- The function g₁ ∘ g₂ is of class λ₁λ₂ if at most one of the vectors d^{λ₁}₊g₁(0), d^{λ₁}₋g₁(0), d^{λ₂}₊g₂(0), and d^{λ₂}₋g₂(0) is zero and if each component of g₂ doesn't change its sign on some right (resp. left) neighborhood about the origin.

Proof. Items (1)-(3) are similar to the classical rules of local fractional differentiation (see [104, 3]) and can be easily verified from Definition 3.3.2. To prove the fourth item: Assume; without loss of generality, that r = 1and that there exists some $\kappa_0 > 0$ such that $g_2(\kappa) < 0, \forall \kappa \in (0, \kappa_0)$ and $g_2(\kappa) > 0, \forall \kappa \in (-\kappa_0, 0)$. Thus, $d_+^{\lambda_2}g_2(0) \leq 0$ and $d_-^{\lambda_2}g_2(0) \geq 0$. Look at

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0+} \frac{g_1 \circ g_2(\kappa)}{\kappa^{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}} = \lim_{l \to 0-} \frac{g_1(l)}{(-l)^{\lambda_1}} \lim_{\kappa \to 0+} \left(\frac{-g_2(\kappa)}{\kappa^{\lambda_2}}\right)^{\lambda_1}$$
$$= \frac{d_-^{\lambda_1} g_1(0)}{\Gamma(1+\lambda_1)} \left(-\frac{d_+^{\lambda_2} g_2(0)}{\Gamma(1+\lambda_2)}\right)^{\lambda_1},$$

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \frac{g_1 \circ g_2(\kappa)}{(-\kappa)^{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}} = \lim_{l \to 0^{+}} \frac{g_1(l)}{l^{\lambda_1}} \lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \left(\frac{g_2(\kappa)}{(-\kappa)^{\lambda_2}} \right)^{\lambda_1}$$
$$= \frac{d_+^{\lambda_1} g_1(0)}{\Gamma(1+\lambda_1)} \left(\frac{d_-^{\lambda_2} g_2(0)}{\Gamma(1+\lambda_2)} \right)^{\lambda_1},$$

which complete the proof.

⊕

Ĥ

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Example 3.3.8. Let $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ be defined as

$$g(\vartheta) = (\sin(\vartheta) + \vartheta) (\cos(\vartheta) + \vartheta^2/2 - 1), \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Observe that $g = g_1g_2$, where $g_1, g_2 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ are defined as

$$g_1(\vartheta) = (\sin(\vartheta) + \vartheta), \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R},$$
$$g_2(\vartheta) = (\cos(\vartheta) + \vartheta^2/2 - 1), \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$$

We deduced in Examples 3.3.4 and 3.3.5 that the functions g_1 and g_2 are respectively of class $\lambda_1 = 1$ and $\lambda_2 = 4$. Furthermore, we have

$$\lim_{\vartheta \to 0+} \frac{g_1(\vartheta)}{\vartheta} = \lim_{\vartheta \to 0+} \frac{\sin(\vartheta) + \vartheta}{\vartheta} = 2,$$
$$\lim_{\vartheta \to 0-} \frac{g_1(\vartheta)}{-\vartheta} = \lim_{\vartheta \to 0-} \frac{\sin(\vartheta) + \vartheta}{-\vartheta} = -2,$$

so that both quantities $d_{+}^{1}g_{1}(0)$ and $d_{-}^{1}g_{1}(0)$ are non-zero. Moreover, at least one of $d_{+}^{4}g_{2}(0)$ and $d_{-}^{4}g_{2}(0)$ is non-zero because g_{2} is of class $\lambda_{2} = 4$. Therefore, we conclude from part 3 of Lemma 3.3.1, that the function g is of class $\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2} = 1 + 4 = 5$.

Proposition 3.3.6. Let $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ be such that

$$g = \left[\begin{array}{cccc} g_1 & g_2 & \cdots & g_r\end{array}\right]^T,$$

where $g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_r \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$. Then, if for $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, r\}$, the function g_i is of class λ_i , then the function g is of class $\lambda = \min(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_r)^5$.

Proof. Let $i \in \{0, 1, ..., r\}$. Functions g_i and $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & g_i & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}^T$ are of the same class because of Definition 3.3.2. Thus, the result follows from part 2 of Lemma 3.3.1 because $g = \sum_{i=1}^r \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & g_i & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}^T$. \Box

⁵The converse need not be true, for instance, let r = 2, $g_1 \equiv 0$, and g_2 be the identity mapping

 \oplus

3.3.2 Mathematical preliminaries

Proposition 3.3.7. The function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is of class λ if and only if

$$\forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}, \ we \ have \ \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^{\lambda} g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right) = g^*\left(\vartheta\right),$$

where $g^* \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is defined as

$$g^{*}(\vartheta) = \begin{cases} \vartheta^{\lambda} \lim_{\kappa \to 0+} \frac{g(\kappa)}{\kappa^{\lambda}} & \vartheta \ge 0\\ (-\vartheta)^{\lambda} \lim_{\kappa \to 0-} \frac{g(\kappa)}{(-\kappa)^{\lambda}} & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

Proof. Immediate using of the change of variables $\kappa = \vartheta/\gamma$.

Proposition 3.3.8. If the function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is of class λ , then

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \gamma^{\lambda} g\left(\dot{u} / \gamma \right) - g^*\left(\dot{u} \right) \right\|_{\infty} = 0,$$

where $g^* \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is defined in (3.9).

Proof. The result is trivial when u is constant. Assume that u is non-constant. Given $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is of class λ , there exists some c_{ε} ; that depend solely on ε , such that

$$\left| \frac{g\left(\vartheta\right)}{\vartheta^{\lambda}} - \frac{d_{+}^{\lambda}g\left(0\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\lambda\right)} \right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{\left\|\dot{u}\right\|_{\infty}^{\lambda}}, \text{ whenever } 0 < \vartheta < c_{\varepsilon},$$
$$\left| \frac{g\left(\vartheta\right)}{\left(-\vartheta\right)^{\lambda}} - \frac{d_{-}^{\lambda}g\left(0\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\lambda\right)} \right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{\left\|\dot{u}\right\|_{\infty}^{\lambda}}, \text{ whenever } -c_{\varepsilon} < \vartheta < 0.$$

The boundedness of \dot{u} implies that there exists a positive constant γ^* such that $|\dot{u}(t)|/\gamma < c_{\varepsilon}, \forall \gamma > \gamma^*$. Thus, we have for all $\gamma > \gamma^*$ that

$$\left|\gamma^{\lambda} \frac{g\left(\dot{u}/\gamma\right)}{\left(\dot{u}\right)^{\lambda}} - \frac{d_{+}^{\lambda} g\left(0\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\lambda\right)}\right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{\left\|\dot{u}\right\|_{\infty}^{\lambda}}, \text{ whenever } \dot{u} > 0,$$

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

$$\left|\gamma^{\lambda} \frac{g\left(\dot{u}/\gamma\right)}{\left(-\dot{u}\right)^{\lambda}} - \frac{d_{-}^{\lambda}g\left(0\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\lambda\right)}\right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{\left\|\dot{u}\right\|_{\infty}^{\lambda}}, \text{ whenever } \dot{u} < 0.$$

Thus, we obtain from (3.9) that

$$\left| \gamma^{\lambda} g\left(\dot{u} / \gamma \right) - g^{*}\left(\dot{u} \right) \right| \leq \left| \dot{u} \right|^{\lambda} \max\left(\left| \gamma^{\lambda} \frac{g(\dot{u})}{|\dot{u}|^{\lambda}} - \frac{d^{\lambda}_{+} g(0)}{\Gamma(1+\lambda)} \right|, \left| \gamma^{\lambda} \frac{g(\dot{u})}{|\dot{u}|^{\lambda}} - \frac{d^{\lambda}_{-} g(0)}{\Gamma(1+\lambda)} \right| \right) \right\} < \varepsilon, \ \forall \gamma > \gamma^{*},$$

which completes the proof.

Proposition 3.3.9. If the function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is of class λ for some $\lambda > 0$, then it cannot be of any class $\mu > 0$ different than λ .

Proof. Assume that the function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is of class λ and μ with $\lambda < \mu$. Then,

$$\frac{d_{+}^{\lambda}g\left(0\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\lambda\right)} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0+} \frac{g\left(\kappa\right)}{\kappa^{\lambda}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0+} \kappa^{\mu-\lambda} \frac{g\left(\kappa\right)}{\kappa^{\mu}} = 0 \times \frac{d_{+}^{\mu}g\left(0\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\mu\right)} = \mathbf{0},$$
$$\frac{d_{-}^{\lambda}g\left(0\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\lambda\right)} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0-} \frac{g\left(\kappa\right)}{\left(-\kappa\right)^{\lambda}} = \lim_{\kappa \to 0-} |\kappa|^{\mu-\lambda} \frac{g\left(\kappa\right)}{|\kappa|^{\mu}} = 0 \times \frac{d_{-}^{\mu}g\left(0\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\mu\right)} = \mathbf{0},$$

which contradicts the fact that g is of class λ .

Proposition 3.3.9 states the uniqueness of the class of functions.

Proposition 3.3.10. If the function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is of class $\lambda > 0$, then there exists $g_0 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}_+)$, such that

$$\left|\gamma^{\lambda}g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right)\right| \leq g_{0}\left(\vartheta\right), \forall \gamma > 1, \ \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(3.10)

Proof. Without loss of generality, assume that r = 1. Definition 3.3.2 implies that there exists some $c_0 > 0$ such that

$$\left|\frac{g\left(\kappa\right)}{\kappa^{\lambda}} - \frac{d_{+}^{\lambda}g\left(0\right)}{\Gamma\left(1+\lambda\right)}\right| < 1, \ \forall \kappa \in \left(0, c_{0}\right),$$

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

3.4 Necessary conditions for consistency

$$\left|\frac{g(\kappa)}{\left(-\kappa\right)^{\lambda}} - \frac{d^{\lambda}_{-}g(0)}{\Gamma(1+\lambda)}\right| < 1, \ \forall \kappa \in \left(-c_{0}, 0\right).$$

Therefore, there exists some d > 0 with

$$|g(\kappa)| \le d |\kappa|^{\lambda}, \, \forall |\kappa| < c_0.$$
(3.11)

Thus, the substitution $\kappa = \vartheta / \gamma$ implies that

$$\left|\gamma^{\lambda}g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right)\right| \le d \left|\vartheta\right|^{\lambda}, \,\forall\vartheta\in\mathbb{R}, \forall\gamma>0 \text{ that satisfy } \frac{\left|\vartheta\right|}{\gamma} < c_0.$$
 (3.12)

Define $g_1 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$, as

 \oplus

 \oplus

$$g_{1}(\vartheta) = \begin{cases} \sup_{0 \le s \le \vartheta} |g(s)| & \vartheta > 0\\ 0 & \vartheta = 0\\ \sup_{\vartheta \le s \le 0} |g(s)| & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

The function g_1 is continuous. Moreover, we have $|g(\vartheta)| \leq g_1(\vartheta), \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$. The function g_1 is non-decreasing on $[0, \infty)$ and non-increasing on $(-\infty, 0]$. This implies that

$$\left|\gamma^{\lambda}g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right)\right| \leq \frac{\left|\vartheta\right|^{\lambda}}{c_{0}^{\lambda}}g_{1}\left(\vartheta\right), \,\forall\vartheta\in\mathbb{R}, \forall\gamma>1 \text{ that satisfy } \frac{\left|\vartheta\right|}{\gamma}\geq c_{0}.$$

Thus, we get from (3.12) for all $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$ and all $\gamma > 1$ that

$$\left|\gamma^{\lambda}g\left(\frac{\vartheta}{\gamma}\right)\right| \leq \max\left(d\left|\vartheta\right|^{\lambda}, \frac{\left|\vartheta\right|^{\lambda}}{c_{0}^{\lambda}}g_{1}\left(\vartheta\right)\right) = g_{0}\left(\vartheta\right),$$

which completes the proof.

3.4 Necessary conditions for consistency

The objective of this section is to derive necessary conditions for the uniform convergence of the sequence of functions σ_{γ} as $\gamma \to \infty$.

53

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

Lemma 3.4.1. Assume that the system (3.1)-(3.2) has a unique global solution⁶ for each input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ and initial condition $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$. Assume that the function g is of class $\lambda > 0$. Suppose that there exists a continuous function $Q: \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$|x(t)| \le Q(|x_0|, ||u||_{\infty}, ||\dot{u}||_{\infty}), \,\forall t \ge 0,$$
(3.13)

for each initial state $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$ and each input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$. Assume that the system (3.1)-(3.2) is consistent with respect to (u, x_0) ; that is there exists $q_u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^m)$ such that (see Proposition 3.2.1)

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \sigma_{\gamma} - q_u \right\|_{\infty} = 0$$

Then

if $\lambda = 1$, we have

- $q_u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^m).$
- We have for all $t \ge 0$ that

$$q_{u}(t) = x_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} f(q_{u}(\tau), u(\tau)) g^{*}(\dot{u}(\tau)) d\tau, \qquad (3.14)$$

where g^* is given in equation (3.9).

if $\lambda \in (0,1)$, we have

- $q_u \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m).$
- $q_u(0) = x_0$.

 \oplus

⁶The standard way to ensure that the system (3.1)-(3.2) admits a unique solution is to prove that the right-hand side of (3.1)-(3.2) is Lipschitz with respect to x. A function $\nu : D \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is Lipschitz with respect to x if there exists a summable function $l : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that $|\nu (\alpha_1, t) - \nu (\alpha_2, t)| \le l(t) |\alpha_1 - \alpha_2|$, for almost all $t \ge 0$ and for all $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{R}^m$ that satisfy $(t, \alpha_1), (t, \alpha_2) \in D$ [39]

3.4 Necessary conditions for consistency

• We have for almost all $t \ge 0$ that

$$f(q_u(t), u(t)) g^*(\dot{u}(t)) = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (3.15)$$

where g^* is defined in equation (3.9).

if $\lambda > 1$, we have $q_u(t) = x_0, \forall t \ge 0$.

Proof. By (3.13), the fact $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^n)$, the continuity of the function Q, and the relation $||u||_{\infty} = ||u \circ s_{\gamma}||_{\infty}, \forall \gamma > 0$, there exists some a > 0 independent of γ , and $\gamma_0 > 0$ such that

$$|x_{\gamma}(t)| \le Q\left(|x_{0}|, \|u\|_{\infty}, \frac{\|\dot{u}\|_{\infty}}{\gamma}\right) \le a, \forall t \ge 0, \forall \gamma > \gamma_{0}$$

where x_{γ} is given in (3.3)-(3.4). Thus

 \oplus

$$\|x_{\gamma}\|_{\infty} \le a, \ \forall \gamma > \gamma_0. \tag{3.16}$$

On the other hand, we conclude from Lemma 1.2.3 that $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \in C^{0}(I_{u}, \mathbb{R}^{m}) \cap L^{\infty}(I_{u}, \mathbb{R}^{m})$, and $||x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}||_{\infty, I_{u}} = ||x_{\gamma}||_{\infty}$, for all $\gamma > 0$. Hence, the continuity of $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}$ and (3.16) imply that

$$\begin{aligned} |\sigma_{\gamma}(t)| &= \left\| x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_{u}(t) \right\| \leq \left\| x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \right\|_{\infty, I_{u}} = \left\| x_{\gamma} \right\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq a, \ \forall t \ge 0, \ \forall \gamma > \gamma_{0}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.17)

Thus, the continuity of f and g, the boundedness of \dot{u} , and Proposition (3.3.10), imply that there exists a constant b > 0 independent of γ such that

$$\gamma^{\lambda} |f(\sigma_{\gamma}(\tau), u(\tau)) g(\dot{u}(\tau) / \gamma)| \leq b$$
, for almost all $\tau \geq 0, \forall \gamma > 1$.

Thus, we can apply the Dominated Lebesgue Theorem [88] to get

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \gamma^{\lambda} \int_{0}^{t} f\left(\sigma_{\gamma}\left(\tau\right), u\left(\tau\right)\right) g\left(\frac{\dot{u}\left(\tau\right)}{\gamma}\right) d\tau$$

55

 \oplus

 \oplus

The generalized Duhem model

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

$$= \int_{0}^{t} f(x_{u}^{*} \circ \rho_{u}(\tau), u(\tau)) g^{*}(\dot{u}(\tau)) d\tau, \ \forall t \ge 0.$$
 (3.18)

On the other hand, since q_u is continuous as a uniform limit of continuous sequence of functions, we have $q_u \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$ and $q_u(0) = x_0$ (note that $\sigma_{\gamma}(0) = x_0, \forall \gamma > 0$).

When $\lambda = 1$, we obtain from (3.18) and (3.5) that

$$q_{u}(t) = x_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} f(q_{u}(\tau), u(\tau)) g^{*}(\dot{u}(\tau)) d\tau, \forall t \ge 0.$$

Thus, the continuity of the functions f and g^* along with the boundedness of the functions q_u , u and \dot{u} imply that the function \dot{q}_u is bounded. Therefore, $q_u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^m)$ and (3.14) is satisfied.

When $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, we conclude from inequality (3.17) that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \frac{1}{\gamma^{1-\lambda}} \left\| \sigma_{\gamma} - x_0 \right\|_{\infty} = 0.$$

Moreover, equation (3.5) can be written for all $t \ge 0$ as

$$\frac{\sigma_{\gamma}(t) - x_{0}}{\gamma^{1-\lambda}} = \gamma^{\lambda} \int_{0}^{t} f(\sigma_{\gamma}(\tau), u(\tau)) g\left(\frac{\dot{u}(\tau)}{\gamma}\right) d\tau, \qquad (3.19)$$

The fact that $\lim_{\gamma \to 0} \|\sigma_{\gamma} - x_0\|_{\infty} / \gamma^{1-\lambda} = 0$, along with (3.18) and (3.19) imply that

$$\int_{0}^{t} f\left(x_{u}^{*} \circ \rho_{u}\left(\tau\right), u\left(\tau\right)\right) g^{*}\left(\dot{u}(\tau)\right) d\tau = \mathbf{0}, \ \forall t \ge 0,$$

which proves (3.15).

 \oplus

 $\mathbf{56}$

3.4 Necessary conditions for consistency

Finally, when $\lambda > 1$, (3.5) implies for all $t \ge 0$ that

$$\sigma_{\gamma}(t) - x_{0} = \gamma^{1-\lambda} \gamma^{\lambda} \int_{0}^{t} f(\sigma_{\gamma}(\tau), u(\tau)) g\left(\frac{\dot{u}(\tau)}{\gamma}\right) d\tau,$$

and thus, we get from (3.18) that $\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \sigma_{\gamma}(t) = x_0, \forall t \ge 0$. Therefore, the uniqueness of limits and the continuity of q_u imply that $q_u(t) = x_0, \forall t \ge 0$. \Box

Remark 3.4.1. Observe that for $\lambda > 1$, the fact that $q_u(t) = x_0, \forall t \ge 0$, means that system (3.1)-(3.2) does not represent a hysteresis behavior [15].

Remark 3.4.2. For the case $\lambda \in (0,1)$, equation (3.15) and the fact that $q_u(0) = x_0$ imply $f(x_0, u(0)) g(\dot{u}(0)) = \mathbf{0}$, whenever $\dot{u}(0)$ exists.

Now, we provide some examples to illustrate Lemma 3.4.1.

Example 3.4.1. Consider the following LuGre model 7

$$\dot{x} = \dot{u} - 10^5 \frac{|\dot{u}|}{\mu(\dot{u})} x = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & x \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \dot{u} \\ -10^5 \frac{|\dot{u}|}{\mu(\dot{u})} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.20)

$$x(0) = x_0, \tag{3.21}$$

where $x \in \mathbb{R}$ is the output and the function $\mu : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined as

$$\mu\left(\alpha\right) = F_C + \left(F_S - F_C\right) e^{-|\alpha/v_s|}, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R},$$

where $F_C > 0$ is the Coulomb friction force, $F_S > 0$ is the stiction force, and $v_s \in \mathbb{R}$ is the Stribeck velocity.

The sequence of function σ_{γ} is given by (see equation (3.5))

$$\dot{\sigma}_{\gamma}(t) = \dot{u}(t) - 10^{5} \frac{|\dot{u}(t)|}{\mu\left(\frac{\dot{u}(t)}{\gamma}\right)} \sigma_{\gamma}(t), \text{ for almost all } t \ge 0.$$

⁷ see system (2.3)-(2.4) in Chapter 2

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Figure 3.1: Upper left $\sigma_{\gamma}(t)$ versus u(t) for different values of γ . Upper right $(\sigma_{\gamma} - q_u)(t)$ versus t for different values of γ . Lower $q_u(t)$ versus t. The plots are for Example 3.4.1, where the solid lines are for q_u .

The following facts follows by Lemma 2.2.2:

- There exist $\gamma_1, E > 0$ such that $\|x_{\gamma}\|_{\infty} = \|F_{\gamma}\|_{\infty} \leq E, \forall \gamma > \gamma_1$, where $x_{\gamma} = F_{\gamma}$ is the output when we use input $u \circ s_{\gamma}$ instead of u (see system (3.3)-(3.4)).
- $\left\|\varphi_{u\circ s_{\gamma}}-\varphi_{u}^{*}\right\|_{\infty,I_{u}}\to 0 \text{ as } \gamma\to\infty, \text{ where the function } \varphi_{u}^{*}\in W^{1,\infty}\left(I_{u},\mathbb{R}^{m}\right)$ is defined as

$$\varphi_u^*\left(\varrho\right) = e^{\frac{-10^5\varrho}{F_S}} \left[x_0 + \int_0^\varrho e^{\frac{10^5\tau}{F_S}} \dot{\psi}_u\left(\tau\right) d\tau \right], \forall \varrho \in I_u.$$
(3.22)

Thus, we conclude from the relation $\sigma_{\gamma} = \varphi_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_u$ that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \frac{1}{\gamma^{1-\lambda}} \left\| \sigma_{\gamma} - q_u \right\|_{\infty} = 0,$$

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

3.4 Necessary conditions for consistency

where the function $q_u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^m)$ is such that $q_u = \varphi_u^* \circ \rho_u$ (see proposition 3.2.1). Thus, we get from the change of variable $\varrho = \rho_u(t)$ that

$$q_{u}(t) = e^{\frac{-10^{5}\rho_{u}(t)}{F_{S}}} \left[x_{0} + \int_{0}^{\rho_{u}(t)} e^{\frac{10^{5}\tau}{F_{S}}} \dot{\psi}_{u}(\tau) d\tau \right], \forall t \ge 0,$$

so that

 \oplus

 \oplus

$$q_u(t) = e^{\frac{-10^5 \rho_u(t)}{F_S}} \left[x_0 + \int_0^t e^{\frac{10^5 \rho_u(\tau)}{F_S}} \dot{u}(\tau) \, d\tau \right], \qquad (3.23)$$

where the relation $\psi_u \circ \rho_u = u$ has been used. Thus, all conditions of Lemma 3.4.1 are satisfied.

Now, we have to find the value of λ and the function g^* . We have

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0+} g(\kappa) / \kappa = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ \frac{-\theta}{F_S} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0-} g(\kappa) / (-\kappa) = \begin{bmatrix} -1\\ \frac{-\theta}{F_S} \end{bmatrix}$$

Thus, the function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^r)$ in (3.20) is of class $\lambda = 1$ (see Definition 3.3.2) and the function $g^* \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^r)$ in (3.9) is defined as

$$g^*(\vartheta) = \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta \\ \frac{-\theta}{F_S} |\vartheta| \end{bmatrix}, \ \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Therefore, by applying Lemma 3.4.1, it follows that the system (3.23) satisfies equation (3.14).

Simulations: Take $v_S = 0.001 \ m/s$, $F_S = 1.5 \ N$, $F_C = 1.0 \ N$, $x(0) = 0 \ N$, and $u(t) = 10^{-4} \sin(\vartheta)$, m, $\forall t \ge 0$ (values taken from [78]). Figure 3.1 upper left shows that the graphs $\{(\sigma_{\gamma}(t), u(t)), t \ge 0\}$ converge to the set

 \oplus

The generalized Duhem model

 \oplus

⊕

⊕

 \oplus

 $\{(q_u(t), u(t)), t \ge 0\}$ as $\gamma \to \infty$. This is the main characteristic of a hysteresis system. Also observe that $\{(\sigma_{\gamma}(t), u(t)), t \ge 0\}$ are different for different values of γ . This is what is called "rate-dependent" property of the model (3.20)-(3.21). Figure 3.1 upper right presents the graph of $(\sigma_{\gamma} - q_u)(t)$ versus t; we observe that $\sigma_{\gamma} - q_u$ converges uniformly to the zero function as $\gamma \to \infty$ which is means that σ_{γ} converges uniformly to q_u when $\gamma \to \infty$. The graph of $q_u(t)$ versus t is presented in Figure 3.1 lower.

For the case $\lambda \in (0,1)$, when we equal the right-hand side of equation (3.1) to **0** and solve it in x, the function q_u in Lemma 3.4.1 should be one of the solutions. In the following example, we present a system in which there exists a function $h \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m) \cap C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$; different than q_u , such that $f(h(t), u(t)) g(\dot{u}) = \mathbf{0}$, for almost all $t \geq 0$. The function h is not necessarily absolutely continuous.

Example 3.4.2. The Cantor function $C : [0,1] \to [0,1]$ is continuous everywhere, not absolutely continuous, and satisfies C(0) = 0 [87]. Let $K : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function of period 2 such that

$$K(\beta) = \begin{cases} C(-\beta) & : if -1 \le \beta \le 0\\ C(\beta) & : if 0 \le \beta \le 1 \end{cases}$$

Consider the system

 \oplus

$$\dot{x} = f(x, u) g(\dot{u}) = -|x| (x + K(u)) \sqrt[3]{|\dot{u}|},$$
 (3.24)

$$x(0) = 0. (3.25)$$

where state $x \in \mathbb{R}$, and input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$. The functions f and g are continuous.

When x > 0, we get $\dot{x} = -|x| (x + K(u)) \sqrt[3]{|\dot{u}|} \le 0$. Moreover, when $x \le -1$, we get $\dot{x} = -|x| (x + K(u)) \sqrt[3]{|\dot{u}|} \ge 0$. Thus, we have $|x| \le \max(|x_0|, 1)$, for any initial state $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and any output $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, each solution
of the system (3.24)-(3.25) is global [90].

 \oplus

 \oplus

Since $\lim_{\vartheta \to 0} g(\vartheta) / \sqrt[3]{|\vartheta|} = 1$, the function g is of class $\lambda = 1/3 \in (0,1)$.

The right-hand side of (3.24) is Lipschitz with respect to x. Therefore, the system (3.24)-(3.25) has a unique solution (see [39]). In fact, this solution is the zero function, so we obtain $\sigma_{\gamma} = x_{\gamma} \circ s_{1/\gamma} \equiv 0, \forall \gamma > 0$, which means that $\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \|\sigma_{\gamma}\| = 0$. Hence the function $q_u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}) \cap C^0(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ in Lemma 3.4.1 is the zero function which satisfies (3.15).

The conditions of Lemma 3.4.1 are all satisfied. However, the function $h \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ which is defined as h = -K(u) satisfies the conditions f(h(t), u(t)) = 0, $\forall t \ge 0$ and h(0) = 0. Note that the function h may be not absolutely continuous. For instance, if there exists $0 < \vartheta < 1$ such that $u(t) = t, \forall t \in (0, \vartheta)$, then $h(t) = -K(u(t)) = -K(t) = -C(t), \forall t \in (0, \vartheta)$, which means that h is not absolutely continuous.

3.5 Sufficient conditions for consistency

This section presents sufficient conditions for the uniform convergence of the sequence of functions σ_{γ} as $\gamma \to \infty$ (and hence for consistency of the system (3.1)-(3.2) with respect to (u, x_0)). The main results of this section are given in Lemmas 3.5.1, 3.5.2 and 3.5.3.

3.5.1 Class $\lambda \in (0,1)$ functions

In this subsection, sufficient conditions for the uniform convergence of σ_{γ} as $\gamma \to \infty$, are derived when the function g is of class $\lambda \in (0, 1)$.

Definition 3.5.1. [61] A continuous function $\beta : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is said to belong to class \mathcal{K}_{∞} if it is increasing, satisfies $\beta(0) = 0$, and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \beta(t) = \infty$.

 $\mathbf{61}$

 \oplus

⊕

⊕

The generalized Duhem model

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

Lemma 3.5.1. Suppose that the system (3.1)-(3.2) has a unique solution and that the function g is of class $\lambda \in (0, 1)$. Assume that there exists $q_u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^m)$ such that for almost all $t \geq 0$

$$\begin{cases} q_u(0) = x_0, \\ f(q_u(t), u(t)) g^*(\dot{u}(t)) = \mathbf{0}. \end{cases}$$
(3.26)

For all $\gamma > 0$, define $y_{\gamma} : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}^m$ as

$$y_{\gamma}(t) = \sigma_{\gamma}(t) - q_u(t) = x_{\gamma}(\gamma t) - q_u(t), \qquad (3.27)$$

for all $t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma})$, where $[0, \omega_{\gamma})$ is the maximal interval of existence of solution σ_{γ} in (3.5). Suppose that we can find a continuously differentiable function $V : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

1. There exists a function $\delta_1 : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ that satisfies

$$\delta_1(\gamma) \to 0 \quad as \quad \gamma \to \infty,$$
 (3.28)

2. There exist constants $\gamma_*, \delta_2 > 0$, continuous functions $R_1, R_2 : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ and \mathcal{K}_{∞} class functions $\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3 : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ satisfying:

$$\beta_{1}(|\alpha|) \leq V(\alpha) \leq \beta_{2}(|\alpha|), \ \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{m},$$

$$\frac{dV(\alpha)}{d\alpha} \Big|_{\alpha = y_{\gamma}(t)} \cdot f(y_{\gamma}(t) + q_{u}(t), u(t)) g\left(\frac{\dot{u}(t)}{\gamma}\right)$$

$$\leq -\frac{1}{\gamma^{\lambda}} \beta_{3}(|y_{\gamma}(t)|) + \frac{1}{\gamma} R_{1}(|y_{\gamma}(t)|)$$

$$(3.30)$$

for almost all $t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma})$ and $\forall \gamma > \gamma_{*}$ that satisfy $\delta_{1}(\gamma) < |y_{\gamma}(t)| < \delta_{2}$,

$$\left|\frac{dV(\alpha)}{d\alpha}\right| \le R_2(|\alpha|), \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^m,$$
(3.31)

Then,

 \oplus

 \oplus

- There exist $E, \gamma^* > 0$ such that $\forall \gamma > \gamma^*$: $\omega_{\gamma} = +\infty$, and $||x_{\gamma}||_{\infty} \leq E$, where x_{γ} is given in (3.3)-(3.4).
- $\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \|\sigma_{\gamma} q_u\|_{\infty} = 0.$

Proof. From (3.5) and (3.27), we get for all $\forall \gamma > 0$ and almost all $t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma})$ that $y_{\gamma}(0) = \mathbf{0}$ and

$$\dot{y}_{\gamma}(t) = \gamma f\left(y_{\gamma}(t) + q_{u}(t), u(t)\right) g\left(\frac{\dot{u}(t)}{\gamma}\right) - \dot{q}_{u}(t).$$
(3.32)

For any $\gamma > 0$, define $V_{\gamma} : (0, \omega_{\gamma}] \to \mathbb{R}_+$ as $V_{\gamma}(t) = V(y_{\gamma}(t)), \forall t \in (0, \omega_{\gamma}]$. The derivative of V along trajectories (3.32) is given for almost all $t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma})$ and all $\gamma > 0$ by

$$\dot{V}_{\gamma}(t) = \frac{dV(\alpha)}{d\alpha} \bigg|_{\alpha = y_{\gamma}(t)} \cdot \dot{y}_{\gamma}(t)$$

$$= \frac{dV(\alpha)}{d\alpha} \bigg|_{\alpha = y_{\gamma}(t)} \cdot \left[\gamma f(y_{\gamma}(t) + q_{u}(t), u(t)) - \dot{q}_{u}(t)\right]. \quad (3.33)$$

By (3.28), there exists some $\gamma_1 > \gamma_*$ such that $\beta_2 \circ \delta_1(\gamma) < \beta_1(\delta_2), \forall \gamma > \gamma_1$. Let $\Omega_{\gamma} = (\beta_2 \circ \delta_1(\gamma), \beta_1(\delta_2))$. By (3.29), we have for any $\gamma > \gamma_1$, for almost all $t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma})$ that

$$V_{\gamma}(t) \in \Omega_{\gamma} \Rightarrow \delta_{1}(\gamma) < |y_{\gamma}(t)| < \delta_{2}.$$
(3.34)

Thus, we deduce from (3.30), (3.31), (3.33), and (3.34) that

$$\begin{cases} \dot{V}_{\gamma}(t) \leq -\gamma^{1-\lambda}\beta_{3}\left(|y_{\gamma}(t)|\right) + R_{1}\left(|y_{\gamma}(t)|\right) + \|\dot{q}_{u}\|_{\infty} R_{2}\left(|y_{\gamma}(t)|\right)\\ \text{for almost all } t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma}), \forall \gamma > \gamma_{1} \text{ that satisfy } V_{\gamma}(t) \in \Omega_{\gamma}. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, (3.34) and the continuity of the functions R_1, R_2 imply that there

 \oplus

 \oplus

The generalized Duhem model

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

exists a constant a > 0 that does not depend on γ , such that

$$\begin{cases} \dot{V}_{\gamma}(t) \leq -\gamma^{1-\lambda}\beta_{3}\left(|y_{\gamma}(t)|\right) + a, \\ \text{for almost all } t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma}), \forall \gamma > \gamma_{1} \text{ that satisfy } V_{\gamma}(t) \in \Omega_{\gamma}. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.35)$$

Thus, we deduce from (3.29) that

$$\begin{cases} \dot{V}_{\gamma}(t) \leq -\beta_{\gamma}(V_{\gamma}(t)) + a, \\ \text{for almost all } t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma}), \forall \gamma > \gamma_{1} \text{ that satisfy } V_{\gamma}(t) \in \Omega_{\gamma}. \end{cases}$$
(3.36)

where $\beta_{\gamma} : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is defined as $\beta_{\gamma} = \gamma^{1-\lambda}\beta_3 \circ \beta_2^{-1}$.

On the other hand, since $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, there exists $\gamma_2 > \gamma_1$ such that $\beta_{\gamma}^{-1}(a) = \beta_2 \circ \beta_3^{-1}(a\gamma^{\lambda-1}) < \beta_1(\delta_2), \forall \gamma > \gamma_2$. Hence, Corollary 2.2.1 and the fact that $V_{\gamma}(0) = 0, \forall \gamma > 0^8$, imply that

$$\begin{cases} V_{\gamma}(t) \leq \max\left(\beta_{\gamma}^{-1}(a), \beta_{2} \circ \delta_{1}(\gamma)\right) \\ \forall t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma}), \forall \gamma > \gamma_{2}. \end{cases}$$

so that

 \oplus

$$\begin{cases} V_{\gamma}(t) \leq \max\left(\beta_{2} \circ \beta_{3}^{-1}\left(a\gamma^{\lambda-1}\right), \beta_{2} \circ \delta_{1}(\gamma)\right) \\ \forall t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma}), \forall \gamma > \gamma_{2}. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, (3.29) implies $\forall \gamma > \gamma_2$ and $\forall t \in [0, \omega_{\gamma})$ that

$$|y_{\gamma}(t)| \leq \max\left(\beta_{1}^{-1} \circ \beta_{2} \circ \beta_{3}^{-1}\left(a\gamma^{\lambda-1}\right), \beta_{1}^{-1} \circ \beta_{2} \circ \delta_{3}(\gamma)\right)$$
(3.37)

Thus, $\omega_{\gamma} = +\infty, \forall \gamma > \gamma_2$. Furthermore, (3.28), (3.37), and the fact that $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ imply that $\|y_{\gamma}\|_{\infty} = \|\sigma_{\gamma} - q_u\|_{\infty} \to 0$ as $\gamma \to \infty$. This proves the consistency with respect to (u, x_0) because of Proposition 3.2.1.

⁸Note that function V_{γ} is absolutely continuous on each compact subset of $[0, \omega_{\gamma})$ as a composition of a continuously differentiable function V and an absolutely continuous function y_{γ}

Moreover, by (3.37), there exist some $E > 0, \gamma^* > \gamma_2$ such that

$$\|\sigma_{\gamma}\|_{\infty} \le E, \,\forall \gamma > \gamma^*. \tag{3.38}$$

On the other hand, let $\gamma > \gamma^*$. Since x_{γ} is continuous, Lemma 1.2.3 ensures that $||x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}||_{\infty, I_u} = ||x_{\gamma}||_{\infty}$. Let $\varrho \in I_u$. Due to the continuity of ρ_u , there exists some $t \ge 0$ such that $\varrho = \rho_u(t)$ and thus (3.38) and the continuity of σ_{γ} lead to $|x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(\varrho)| = |x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_u(t)| = |\sigma_{\gamma}(t)| \le ||\sigma_{\gamma}||_{\infty} \le E, \forall \gamma > \gamma^*$. Therefore, $||x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}||_{\infty} = ||x_{\gamma}||_{\infty} \le E, \forall \gamma > \gamma^*$, which completes the proof.

Remark 3.5.1. For $\lambda \in (0,1)$, if the function q_u in Lemma 3.5.1 is such that $q_u = R(u)$ for some $R : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^m$, then the graphs $\{(\sigma_{\gamma}(t), u(t)), t \ge 0\}$ converge to the curve R as $\gamma \to \infty$. Hence (3.1)-(3.2) is not a hysteresis because the hysteresis loop cannot be a function [15]. This fact is illustrated in Example 3.5.1.

Example 3.5.1. Consider the semilinear Duhem model:

 \oplus

$$\dot{x} = (Ax + Bu) g(\dot{u}),$$
 (3.39)
 $x(0) = x_0,$

where A is a Hurwitz $m \times m$ matrix (that is, every eigenvalue of A has negative real part), vector B and state x taking values in \mathbb{R}^m . The right-hand side of (3.39) is Lipschitz and thus the system has a unique solution [39]. Take an input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ such that $A^{-1}Bu(0) = -x_0$, and that $|\dot{u}(t)| \ge M$ for almost all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and for some M > 0. Assume that the function $g: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is of class $\lambda \in (0,1)$ and that $d^{\lambda}_+ g(0)$, $d^{\lambda}_- g(0) > 0$. Thus, there exists L > 0 such that $g^*(\vartheta) \ge L |\vartheta|^{\lambda}, \forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, where the function g^* in defined in (3.9). On the other hand, Proposition 3.3.8 states that $\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \gamma^{\lambda} g(\dot{u}/\gamma) - g^*(\dot{u}) \right\|_{\infty} = 0$. This means that there exists $\gamma_1 > 0$ such that we get for almost all $t \ge 0$, and

65

⊕



 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus



Figure 3.2: $\sigma_{\gamma}(t)$ versus t for the semilinear Duhem model (3.39).



Figure 3.3: $\sigma_{\gamma}(t)$ versus u(t) for the semilinear Duhem model (3.39).

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

all $\gamma > \gamma_1$ that

$$\gamma^{\lambda}g\left(\frac{\dot{u}\left(t\right)}{\gamma}\right) > g^{*}\left(\dot{u}\left(t\right)\right) - \frac{LM^{\lambda}}{2}.$$

Thus, the facts $|\dot{u}| \ge M$ and $g^*(\cdot) \ge L |\cdot|^{\lambda}$ imply that

$$g\left(\frac{\dot{u}(t)}{\gamma}\right) > \frac{L M^{\lambda}}{2\gamma^{\lambda}}, \text{ for almost all } t \ge 0, \forall \gamma > \gamma_1.$$
 (3.40)

The function $q_u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ which is defined as $q_u = -A^{-1}Bu$ satisfies (3.26) because $A^{-1}Bu(0) = -x_0$.

Since A is Hurwitz, there exists a $m \times m$ positive-definite matrix P such that [61, p.136]

$$PA + A^T P = -I, (3.41)$$

where I is the identity matrix. Consider the continuously differentiable quadratic Lyapunov function candidate $V : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $V(\alpha) = \alpha^T P \alpha, \ \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^m$. Since P is symmetric, we have $\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^m$ that

$$\lambda_{\min}(P) \left|\alpha\right|^{2} \leq V(\alpha) = \alpha^{T} P \alpha \leq \lambda_{\max}(P) \left|\alpha\right|^{2},$$

where $\lambda_{max}(P)$ and $\lambda_{min}(P)$ are, respectively, the maximum and minimum eigenvalues of the matrix P. Hence, (3.29) is satisfied with $\beta_1(\eta) = \lambda_{min}(P) \eta^2$ and $\beta_2(\eta) = \lambda_{max}(P) \eta^2$ for all $\eta > 0$. Since P is symmetric, we have the following matrices derivation:

$$\frac{dV(\alpha)}{d\alpha} = \left(P + P^T\right)\alpha = 2P\alpha, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$
(3.42)

Thus, we get

 \oplus

$$\left|\frac{dV\left(\alpha\right)}{d\alpha}\right| = 2\left|P\,\alpha\right| \le 2\left|P\right|\left|\alpha\right|, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{m},$$

where |P| is the induced 2-norm for the matrix P and hence (3.31) is satisfied

67

 \oplus

⊕

The generalized Duhem model

 \oplus

Ĥ

⊕

with $R_2(\eta) = 2 |P| \eta, \forall \eta \ge 0$. From (3.42), we have $\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^m$ that

$$\frac{dV(\alpha)}{d\alpha} \cdot A\alpha = 2P\alpha \cdot A\alpha = \alpha^T \left(PA + A^T P\right)\alpha = -|\alpha|^2.$$
(3.43)

Therefore (3.40) implies that for almost all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\gamma > 0$ that

$$\frac{dV(\alpha)}{d\alpha}\Big|_{\alpha=y_{\gamma}(t)} \cdot \left[A\left(y_{\gamma}\left(t\right)+q_{u}\left(t\right)\right)+Bu\left(t\right)\right]g\left(\frac{\dot{u}(t)}{\gamma}\right) \\ = -g\left(\frac{\dot{u}(t)}{\gamma}\right)\left|y_{\gamma}\left(t\right)\right|^{2} \leq -\frac{LM^{\lambda}}{2\gamma^{\lambda}}\left|y_{\gamma}\left(t\right)\right|^{2},$$

where y_{γ} is defined in (3.27). Thus, (3.30) is satisfied with $R_1(\eta) = 0, \forall \eta \ge 0$ and $\beta_3(\eta) = \frac{L M^{\lambda}}{2} \eta^2, \forall \eta \ge 0.$

Let δ_1 be the zero function. Then (3.28) is verified. Take δ_2, γ_* arbitrary in \mathbb{R}_+ (say $\delta_2 = 1, \gamma_* = 1$). Hence, all conditions of Lemma 3.5.1 are satisfied. Thus, it follows from Lemma 3.5.1 that there exist some $E, \gamma^* > 0$ such that $\forall \gamma > \gamma^*$, the solution of (3.39) is global with $|x_{\gamma}(t)| \leq E, \forall t \geq 0$. Moreover, the operator which maps (u, x_0) to x is consistent. In particular, we have $\|\sigma_{\gamma} - q_u\|_{\infty} = \|\sigma_{\gamma} + A^{-1}Bu\|_{\infty} \to 0$ as $\gamma \to \infty$.

As a conclusion, the graphs $\{(\sigma_{\gamma}(t), u(t)), t \geq 0\}$ converge to the graph of the linear function $R : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^m$, which is defined as $R(\alpha) = -A^{-1}B\alpha, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. This means that for $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, the model (3.39) does not represent a hysteresis (see Remark 3.5.1).

Simulations: Take m = 1, B = 1.0, A = -1.0, and $x_0 = 0$. Let $g(\vartheta) = \sqrt{|\vartheta|}$, $\forall \vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, then $d^{\lambda}_{+}g(0) = d^{\lambda}_{-}g(0) = \Gamma(3/2) = \Gamma(1/2)/2 = \sqrt{\pi}/2 > 0$. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ be the function of period 2 such that u(t) = t, $\forall t \in [0,1]$, and u(t) = 2 - t, $\forall t \in [1,2]$. Then, we have $|\dot{u}(t)| = 1$, for almost all $t \geq 0$. We also have $q_u = -A^{-1}Bu = u$. Figure 3.3 shows that the graph $\{(\sigma_{\gamma}(t), u(t)) | t \geq 0\}$ collapses into the identity function when $\gamma \to \infty$. This happens because of the fact that $q_u = u$ and Remark 3.5.1. Figure 3.2 shows

that the sequence of functions σ_{γ} converges uniformly to $q_u = u$ as $\gamma \to \infty$.

3.5.2 Class $\lambda = 1$ functions

In this subsection, we consider class $\lambda = 1$ functions⁹. The main results of this subsection are given in Lemmas 3.5.2 and 3.5.3.

Lemma 3.5.2. Assume the following

- 1. The system (3.1)-(3.2) has a unique global solution.
- 2. For the function g in system (3.1)-(3.2), there exist $a_1, a_2 \in \mathbb{R}^r$ such that 10

$$g\left(\vartheta\right) = \begin{cases} a_1\vartheta & \vartheta \ge 0\\ a_2\vartheta & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

Then the sequence of functions σ_{γ} of (3.5) is independent of γ and the operator which maps (u, x_0) to x is consistent.

Proof. By condition 2, the right-hand side of (3.5) is independent of γ . Thus, the solution σ_{γ} of (3.5) is independent of γ . Since $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_u = \sigma_{\gamma}$, the function $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}$ is also independent of γ (this is the so-called "rate-independent hysteresis") and hence consistency holds.

Example 3.5.2. Consider Bouc's hysteresis model [21]:

$$\dot{x} = -c \, |\dot{u}| \, x + \Phi'(u) \, \dot{u}, \tag{3.44}$$

where c > 0, $\Phi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$, input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$, and $\Phi'(u) = \frac{d\Phi(\alpha)}{d\alpha}|_{\alpha=u}$.

 \oplus

 \oplus

⁹A function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is of class $\lambda = 1$ if $g(0) = \mathbf{0}$ and the limits $\lim_{\kappa \to 0^+} g(\kappa) / |\kappa|$ and $\lim_{\kappa \to 0^-} g(\kappa) / |\kappa|$ exist, are finite, and at least one of them is nonzero. (see Definition 3.3.2)

¹⁰In this case, the function g is of class 1 (see Definition 3.3.2)

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus



Figure 3.4: Bouc's hysteresis model (3.44).

The right-hand side of (3.44) is Lipschitz with respect to x. Thus, the system has a unique solution. Furthermore, we have

$$\dot{x} \leq -\left|\Phi'(u)\,\dot{u}\right| + \Phi'(u)\,\dot{u} \leq 0, \text{ when } x \geq \frac{1}{c}\left|\Phi'(u)\right|,\\ \dot{x} \geq \left|\Phi'(u)\,\dot{u}\right| + \Phi'(u)\,\dot{u} \geq 0, \text{ when } x \leq -\frac{1}{c}\left|\Phi'(u)\right|.$$

Thus, $|x| \leq \max(|\Phi'(u)|/c, |x(0)|)$, for each initial state $x(0) \in \mathbb{R}$ and each input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$. Since u is bounded and $\Phi'(u)$ is continuous, the solution x of (3.44) is bounded and hence global. Hence Condition 1 in Lemma 3.5.2 is satisfied. Equation (3.44) can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x} &= f\left(x, u\right) g\left(\dot{u}\right) \\ &= \left[\begin{array}{cc} -c \, x + \Phi^{'}\left(u\right) & c \, x + \Phi^{'}\left(u\right) \end{array} \right] \left[\begin{array}{c} \max\left(0, \dot{u}\right) \\ \min(0, \dot{u}) \end{array} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Clearly, the function g is of class $\lambda = 1$ and satisfies Condition 2 in Lemma 3.5.2. This fact implies that the operator which maps (u, x(0)) to x is consistent and σ_{γ} is independent of γ .

Simulations: Let c = 1, $\Phi(\alpha) = \alpha^3/3$, $\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, x(0) = 0, and input u(t) = 0

 \oplus



Figure 3.5: Bouc-Wen model (3.45)

 $\sin(t), \forall t \geq 0$. The function σ_{γ} is independent of γ and is plotted in Figure 3.4a. Furthermore, Figure 3.4b shows a rate-independent hysteresis behavior; that is graphs $\{(\sigma_{\gamma}(t), u(t)), t \geq 0\}$ are the same for different values of γ .

Example 3.5.3. Consider the Bouc-Wen model [53]:

$$\dot{x} = d_1 \dot{u} - d_2 |\dot{u}| |x|^{d_4 - 1} x - d_3 |x|^{d_4} \dot{u}, \qquad (3.45)$$

where input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$, state $x \in \mathbb{R}$, and parameters $d_4 > 2$, $d_1, d_2, d_3 \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfy $d_1 \neq 0$ and

 $d_2 + d_3 > 0$ and $d_2 - d_3 \ge 0$ whenever $d_1 > 0$,

$$d_2 + d_3 \ge 0$$
 and $d_2 - d_3 > 0$ whenever $d_1 < 0$.

The system (3.45) has a unique global solution for each initial state $x(0) \in \mathbb{R}$ [54]. System (3.45) can rewritten into the form

$$\dot{x} = f\left(x\right)g\left(\dot{u}\right),$$

where

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

The generalized Duhem model

Đ

 \oplus

⊕

$$f(x) = \begin{bmatrix} d_1 - d_2 |x|^{d_4 - 1} x - d_3 |x|^{d_4} & d_1 + d_2 |x|^{d_4 - 1} x - d_3 |x|^{d_4} \end{bmatrix},$$
$$g(\dot{u}) = \begin{bmatrix} \max(0, \dot{u}) \\ \min(0, \dot{u}) \end{bmatrix}.$$

Thus, the function g is of class $\lambda = 1$ and satisfies condition 2 in Proposition 3.5.2 and thus the operator which maps (u, x(0)) to x is consistent.

Simulations: Let $d_1 = d_2 = 1$, $d_3 = 0$ $d_4 = 2$, initial state x(0) = 0, and input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ be defined as $u(t) = \sin(t)$, $\forall t \ge 0$. The function σ_{γ} ; which is independent of γ and equal to the output x of the system (3.45), is plotted in Figure 3.5.

Example 3.5.4. Consider the Dahl friction model [78]:

$$\dot{x} = \theta \left| 1 - \frac{x}{F_C} sgn(\dot{u}) \right|^p sgn\left(1 - \frac{x}{F_C} sgn(\dot{u}) \right) \dot{u}, \qquad (3.46)$$

where the output x is the friction force, $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ is the relative displacement between the two surfaces in contact (which is the input of the system), $F_C > 0$ is the Coulomb friction force, $p \ge 1$ is a parameter that determines the shape of the force-deflection curve, and $\theta > 0$ is the rest stiffness; that is, the slope of the force-deflection curve when x = 0. The right-hand side of (3.46) is continuous and Lipschitz [78] and hence (3.46) admits a unique solution for each initial state $x(0) \in \mathbb{R}$. We have

$$\dot{x} < 0$$
, whenever $x > sgn(\dot{u}) F_C$,
 $\dot{x} > 0$, whenever $x < sgn(\dot{u}) F_C$.

Thus,

$$|x| \leq \max(F_C, |x(0)|),$$



Figure 3.6: Dahl friction model (3.46)

for each initial state $x(0) \in \mathbb{R}$. Therefore, the solution of (3.46) is global. System (3.46) can rewritten into the form

$$\dot{x} = f(x) g(\dot{u}) = \theta \begin{bmatrix} X_+ & X_- \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \max(0, \dot{u}) \\ \min(0, \dot{u}) \end{bmatrix},$$

where [78]

 \oplus

 \oplus

$$X_{+} = \left| 1 - \frac{x}{F_{C}} \right|^{p} sgn\left(1 - \frac{x}{F_{C}} \right),$$

$$X_{-} = \left| 1 + \frac{x}{F_{C}} \right|^{p} sgn\left(1 + \frac{x}{F_{C}} \right).$$

Thus, the function g is of class $\lambda = 1$ and satisfies condition 2 in Proposition 3.5.2 which implies that the operator which maps (u, x(0)) to x is consistent.

Simulations: Let $\theta = 1$, p = 3, $F_C = 1$, and x(0) = 0. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ be such that u(t) = sin(t), $\forall t \ge 0$. The function σ_{γ} ; which is independent of γ and equal to the output x of the system (3.46), is plotted in Figure 3.6a. Moreover, the Figure 3.6b shows the rate-independent hysteretic behavior between output σ_{γ} and input u.

73

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

The generalized Duhem model

Proposition 3.5.1. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}^n)$ be a non-constant function. There exists a unique function $v_u \in L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R}^n)$ that is defined by $v_u \circ \rho_u = \dot{u}$. Moreover, $\|v_u\|_{\infty, I_u} \leq \|\dot{u}\|_{\infty}$. Assume that \dot{u} is nonzero on a set $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ that satisfies $\mu(\rho_u(\mathbb{R}\setminus A)) = 0$. Then, v_u is nonzero almost everywhere.

Proof. See the proof of Proposition 2.2.1.

Lemma 3.5.3. Let $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ be such that \dot{u} is nonzero on a set $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ that satisfies $\mu(\rho_u(\mathbb{R}\setminus A)) = 0$. Consider the semilinear Duhem model with m = 1 and $\lambda = 1$

$$\dot{x} = (Ax + Bu + C) g(\dot{u}),$$
 (3.47)

$$x(0) = x_0. (3.48)$$

where $A = \begin{bmatrix} a_1 & a_2 & \cdots & a_r \end{bmatrix} \neq \mathbf{0}$, B, and C are $1 \times r$ row vectors, state $x \in \mathbb{R}$, function $g \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^r)$ is of class $\lambda = 1$, and non-constant input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$.

Denote

 \oplus

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0^{+}} \frac{g(\kappa)}{|\kappa|} = G_{+}^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{+,1}^{*} \\ G_{+,2}^{*} \\ \vdots \\ G_{+,r}^{*} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (3.49)$$
$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0^{-}} \frac{g(\kappa)}{|\kappa|} = G_{-}^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{-,1}^{*} \\ G_{-,2}^{*} \\ \vdots \\ G_{-,r}^{*} \end{bmatrix}. \qquad (3.50)$$

For any $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, r\}$, assume that

$$G_{+,i}^*, G_{-,i}^* \ge 0 \text{ whenever } a_i < 0,$$
 (3.51)

$$G_{+,i}^*, G_{-,i}^* \le 0 \text{ whenever } a_i > 0.$$
 (3.52)

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

Suppose that there exists some $i_0 \in \{1, 2, ..., r\}$ such that

$$a_{i_0} \neq 0 \text{ and } \left| G_{+,i_0}^* \right| + \left| G_{-,i_0}^* \right| > 0.$$
 (3.53)

Then

 \oplus

- There exist $E, \gamma_1 > 0$ such that $||x_{\gamma}||_{\infty} \leq E, \forall \gamma > \gamma_1$.¹¹
- There exists a function $q_u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \sigma_{\gamma} - q_u \right\|_{1,\infty} = 0,$$

where $\|\cdot\|_{1,\infty}$ is the norm of the Banach space $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R}^m)$ (and hence the consistency of the system (3.47)-(3.48) is guaranteed with respect to input u and initial condition x_0).

• $q_u(0) = x_0$. Furthermore, for almost all $t \ge 0$, we have

$$\dot{q}_{u}(t) = \left(Aq_{u}(t) + Bu(t) + C\right)g^{*}\left(\dot{u}(t)\right),$$

where the function $g^* \in C^0(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ is defined as in equation (3.9), i.e.

$$g^{*}(\vartheta) = \begin{cases} \vartheta G_{+}^{*} & \vartheta \ge 0\\ -\vartheta G_{-}^{*} & \vartheta < 0 \end{cases}$$

Proof. The semilinear Duhem model has a unique global solution due to the Lipschitz property of the right-hand-side [39, p.5].

For any $i \in \{1, 2, ..., r\}$ and any $\kappa \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$, let $G_i(\kappa)$ to be the *i*-th component of the function $g(\kappa) / |\kappa|$. From (3.49)-(3.50), there exists some constant $\zeta > 0$ such that $\forall i \in \{1, 2, ..., r\}$:

$$\frac{G_{+,i}^{*} - \left|G_{+,i}^{*}\right|/2 < G_{i}\left(\kappa\right) < G_{+,i}^{*} + \left|G_{+,i}^{*}\right|/2, \text{ whenever } \kappa \in (0,\zeta), \quad (3.54)$$

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 $^{^{11}}x_{\gamma}$ is the output of the system (3.47)-(3.48) when we use the input $u \circ s_{\gamma}$ instead of the input u (see system (3.3)-(3.4))

 \oplus

$$G_{-,i}^{*} - \left|G_{-,i}^{*}\right|/2 < G_{i}(\kappa) < G_{-,i}^{*} + \left|G_{-,i}^{*}\right|/2, \text{ whenever } \kappa \in (-\zeta, 0).$$
 (3.55)

Let $i \in \{1, 2, ..., r\}$. We get from (3.51)-(3.52) and (3.54)-(3.55) that

$$\begin{cases} a_i G_i\left(\kappa\right) \le -\max\left(\frac{|a_i||G_{+,i}|}{2}, \frac{|a_i||G_{-,i}|}{2}\right) = -M_i \\ \text{whenever } \kappa \in \left(-\zeta, \zeta\right) \setminus \{0\} \text{ and } a_i \ne 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.56)

For the case $a_i = 0$, take $M_i = 0$. Let $M = \sum_{i=1}^r M_i$. From (3.51)-(3.53), we get M > 0. Thus, we obtain from (3.56) that

$$A \frac{g(\kappa)}{|\kappa|} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} a_i G_i(\kappa) \le -M < 0, \ \forall \kappa \in (-\zeta, \zeta) \setminus \{0\}.$$
(3.57)

By Proposition 3.5.1, a function $v_u \in L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$ can be defined a.e. as $v_u \circ \rho_u = \dot{u}$ with $v_u \neq \mathbf{0}$ a.e. The boundedness of v_u implies that there exists $\gamma_0 > 0$ such that $v_u(\varrho) / \gamma \in (-\zeta, \zeta)$ for almost all $\varrho \in I_u$ and all $\gamma > \gamma_0$. Thus we deduce from (3.57) that for all $\gamma > \gamma_0$:

$$\gamma A \frac{g\left(v_u\left(\varrho\right)/\gamma\right)}{|v_u\left(\varrho\right)|} \le -M, \text{ for almost all } \varrho \in I_u.$$
(3.58)

Let $H: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^r$ be a function such that

$$H\left(\kappa\right) = \begin{cases} G_{+}^{*} & \kappa > 0\\ G_{-}^{*} & \kappa < 0 \end{cases}$$

For any $\gamma > 0$, define $\chi_{\gamma} : I_u \to \mathbb{R}^r$ as

 \oplus

$$\chi_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) = \begin{cases} \gamma \frac{g(v_{u}(\varrho)/\gamma)}{|v_{u}(\varrho)|} - H\left(v_{u}\left(\varrho\right)\right) & v_{u}\left(\varrho\right) \neq 0\\ \mathbf{0} & \text{Otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Since $v_u \in L^{\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$, relations (3.49)-(3.50) imply that ¹²

 $^{^{12}\}mathrm{This}$ result can be easily checked using the same techniques used in the proof of Proposition 3.3.8

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \|\chi_{\gamma}\|_{\infty} = 0. \tag{3.59}$$

Now, consider the system

$$\dot{h} = (Ah + B\psi_u + C) (H \circ v_u), \qquad (3.60)$$

$$h(0) = x_0. (3.61)$$

where state $h \in \mathbb{R}$. The differential equation (3.60) verifies Carathéodory conditions with Lipschitz property with respect to h. Thus, system (3.60)-(3.61) has a unique absolutely continuous local solution [39, p.4] (see Theorems 1.1.2 and 1.1.3). Consider the Lyapunov function $W = h^2$. We deduce from (3.60)-(3.61) that $W(0) = x_0^2$ and

$$\dot{W} = 2A \left(H \circ v_u \right) W + 2 \left(B\psi_u + C \right) \left(H \circ v_u \right) \sqrt{W}.$$
(3.62)

We get from (3.51)-(3.53) that

 \oplus

$$A H (v_u (\varrho)) \le -\sum_{i=1}^r \max \left(|a_i| \left| G_{+,i}^* \right|, |a_i| \left| G_{-,i}^* \right| \right) = -2M,$$

for almost all $\rho \in I_u$. Thus, the boundedness of the function ψ_u (see Lemma 1.2.1) along with the equation (3.62) imply that $\dot{W} \leq -4MW + D_1\sqrt{W}$, for some $D_1 > 0$. This leads to $\dot{W} \leq 0$, whenever $W \geq (D_1/4M)^2$. Therefore, Lemma 2.2.1 and the fact $W(0) = x_0^2$ imply that $W \leq \max\left(x_0^2, (D_1/4M)^2\right)$ which means that the solution of the system (3.60)-(3.61) is bounded and hence is global (i.e. is defined on I_u). On the other hand, The relation $\sigma_{\gamma} = x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_u$ implies that $\dot{\sigma}_{\gamma} = |\dot{u}| \dot{x}_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_u$. Thus, we obtain from systems (3.47)-(3.48) and (3.5), and the relations $v_u \circ \rho_u = \dot{u}$, and $\psi_u \circ \rho_u = u$, that $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(0) = x_0$, and

$$\dot{x}_{u\circ s_{\gamma}}\left(\varrho\right) = \gamma \left(Ax_{u\circ s_{\gamma}}\left(\varrho\right) + B\psi_{u}\left(\varrho\right) + C\right) \frac{g\left(\frac{v_{u}(\varrho)}{\gamma}\right)}{|v_{u}\left(\varrho\right)|}$$
(3.63)

for all $\gamma > 0$, for almost all $\varrho \in [0, \tau_{\gamma}) \subseteq I_u$, where $[0, \tau_{\gamma})$ is the maximal

77

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

The generalized Duhem model

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

interval of existence [39, p.4]. For any $\gamma > 0$, let $y_{\gamma} : I_u \to \mathbb{R}$ be defined as $y_{\gamma} = x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - h$. Since $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}(0) = h(0) = x_0$, the system (3.63) can be written for all $\gamma > 0$, for almost all $\varrho \in [0, \tau_{\gamma})$ as

$$\dot{y}_{\gamma}(\varrho) = \gamma A \frac{g\left(\frac{v_{u}(\varrho)}{\gamma}\right)}{|v_{u}(\varrho)|} y_{\gamma}(\varrho) + (A h(\varrho) + B \psi_{u}(\varrho) + C) \chi_{\gamma}(\varrho), \qquad (3.64)$$

$$y_{\gamma}(0) = 0.$$
 (3.65)

For any $\gamma > 0$, consider the Lyapunov function $V_{\gamma} : [0, \tau_{\gamma}) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ with $V_{\gamma}(\varrho) = y_{\gamma}^2(\varrho), \forall \varrho \in [0, \tau_{\gamma})$. By (3.64), and the boundedness of both ψ_u and the solution of (3.60)-(3.61), there exists some $D_2 > 0$ such that for almost all $\varrho \in [0, \tau_{\gamma})$ and all $\gamma > \gamma_0$:

$$\dot{V}_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) \leq 2\gamma A \frac{g\left(\frac{v_{u}(\varrho)}{\gamma}\right)}{\left|v_{u}\left(\varrho\right)\right|} V_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) + D_{2} \left\|\chi_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty} \sqrt{V_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right)}.$$
(3.66)

Thus, we obtain from (3.58) that

$$\begin{cases} \dot{V}_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) \leq 0, \text{ for almost all } \varrho \in [0, \tau_{\gamma}), \forall \gamma > \gamma_{0}, \\ \text{that satisfy } V_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) > \left(\frac{D_{2} \|\chi_{\gamma}\|_{\infty}}{2M}\right)^{2}. \end{cases}$$
(3.67)

Therefore, we deduce from Lemma 2.2.1 and the fact $V_{\gamma}(0) = 0$ that

$$V_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right) \leq \left(D_{2}\left\|\chi_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty}/2M\right)^{2},$$

for all $\gamma > \gamma_0$ and almost all $\varrho \in [0, \tau_{\gamma})$, and hence we obtain, for almost all $\varrho \in [0, \tau_{\gamma})$ that

$$\left|y_{\gamma}\left(\varrho\right)\right| = \left|x_{u\circ s_{\gamma}}\left(\varrho\right) - h\left(\varrho\right)\right| \le \frac{D_{2}}{2M_{\gamma}} \left\|\chi_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty}, \forall \gamma > \gamma_{0},$$

which implies that $[0, \tau_{\gamma}) = I_u, \forall \gamma > \gamma_0$ and (3.59) implies that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - h \right\|_{\infty, I_u} = 0.$$
(3.68)

On the other hand, the continuity of x_{γ} implies that $||x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}||_{\infty, I_u} = ||x_{\gamma}||_{\infty}$, for any $\gamma > \gamma_0$ (see Lemma 1.2.3). Thus there exists some E > 0 and $\gamma_1 > \gamma_0$ with

$$\left\|x_{u\circ s_{\gamma}}\right\|_{\infty} = \left\|x_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty} \le E, \ \forall \gamma > \gamma_{1}.$$
(3.69)

Moreover, we get from (3.60) and (3.63) for all $\gamma > \gamma_1$ that

$$\dot{x}_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - \dot{h} = \left(A \, x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} + B \, \psi_u + C\right) \chi_{\gamma} \\ + A \left(x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} - h\right) \left(H \circ v_u\right).$$

Thus, by the boundedness of functions \dot{u} and ψ_u , and the relation (3.69), there exist positive constants D_3 and D_4 independent of γ such that

$$\left|\dot{x}_{u\circ s_{\gamma}} - \dot{h}\right| \le D_3 \left\|\chi_{\gamma}\right\|_{\infty} + D_4 \left\|x_{u\circ s_{\gamma}} - h\right\|_{\infty}, \,\forall \gamma > \gamma_1, \tag{3.70}$$

which means that $x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}}$ converges to h in $W^{1,\infty}(I_u, \mathbb{R})$ as $\gamma \to \infty$ because of (3.59) and (3.68). Define $q_u \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$ as $q_u = h \circ \rho_u$. Since for all $\dot{q}_u = |\dot{u}| \dot{h} \circ \rho_u$, relations (3.60)-(3.61) imply for all $t \ge 0$ that

$$q_{u}(t) = x_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} (Aq_{u}(\tau) + Bu(\tau) + C) g^{*}(\dot{u}(\tau)) d\tau.$$

Moreover, using the relation $\sigma_{\gamma} = x_{u \circ s_{\gamma}} \circ \rho_u$, it can be easily verified that

$$\lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left\| \sigma_{\gamma} - q_u \right\|_{1,\infty} = 0.$$

 \oplus

Remark 3.5.2. In Lemma 3.5.3, the sequence of functions σ_{γ} converges in $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ as $\gamma \to \infty$. This result is stronger than the one obtained in Lemma 3.5.1, where the convergence is only in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$.

 \oplus

 \oplus

The generalized Duhem model

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

Example 3.5.5. Consider the LuGre model [25]:

$$\dot{x} = \dot{u} - \theta \frac{|\dot{u}|}{\mu(\dot{u})} x = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & x \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \dot{u} \\ -\theta \frac{|\dot{u}|}{\mu(\dot{u})} \end{bmatrix} = f(x) g(\dot{u})$$
(3.71)

$$x(0) = x_0, (3.72)$$

where parameters $\theta, c_1, c_2 > 0$, $x \in \mathbb{R}$ is the output, $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ is the initial state, and input $u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$. The function $\mu : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined as

$$\mu\left(\alpha\right) = F_C + \left(F_S - F_C\right) e^{-|\alpha/v_s|}, \forall \alpha \in \mathbb{R},$$

where F_C , $F_S v_s$ are positive parameters.

The LuGre model can be written in the form of the system (3.47)-(3.48) with

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} a_1 & a_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, B = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, and C = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 We have

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0+} g(\kappa) / |\kappa| = G_+^* = \begin{bmatrix} G_{+,1}^* \\ G_{+,2}^* \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ \frac{-\theta}{F_S} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0-} g(\kappa) / |\kappa| = G_-^* = \begin{bmatrix} G_{-,1}^* \\ G_{-,2}^* \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 \\ \frac{-\theta}{F_S} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Clearly, Conditions (3.51)-(3.53) are satisfied. Thus, Lemma 3.5.3 implies that $\|\sigma_{\gamma} - q_u\|_{1,\infty} \to 0$, as $\gamma \to \infty$, where the functions $\sigma_{\gamma} : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ and $q_u \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+,\mathbb{R})$ are defined for all $t \ge 0$ as

$$\sigma_{\gamma}(t) = x_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} \left(\dot{u}(\tau) - \frac{\theta |\dot{u}(\tau)|}{\mu (\dot{u}(\tau) / \gamma)} q_{u}(\tau) \right) d\tau,$$

and

 \oplus

$$q_{u}(t) = x_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} \left(\dot{u}(\tau) - \frac{\theta \left| \dot{u}(\tau) \right|}{F_{S}} q_{u}(\tau) \right) d\tau.$$

Also, there exist some $E, \gamma_1 > 0$ such that for all $\gamma > \gamma_1$, the solution of

 \oplus

(3.71)-(3.72) is global with $||x_{\gamma}||_{\infty} \leq E$.

3.6 Conclusions

This chapter has investigated the consistency of the generalized Duhem model with hysteresis. To this end, a classification has been introduced for the system in relation with a parameter λ related to the description of the field. Three classes of models have been considered: $\lambda > 1$, $0 < \lambda < 1$, and $\lambda = 1$. For $\lambda > 1$, it has been shown that the generalized Duhem model does not exhibit hysteresis. For $0 < \lambda < 1$, it has been shown that the semilinear Duhem model is not compatible with a hysteresis behavior. For the case $\lambda = 1$, necessary conditions and sufficient ones for the consistency of the Duhem model have been derived. \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Conclusions and future work

⊕

⊕

 \oplus

4

Conclusions

 \oplus

 \oplus

This thesis has focused on the study of consistency of some hysteresis models. More precisely, Chapter 2 has considered LuGre friction model under minimal conditions. It has been shown that the model is both consistent and strongly consistent. Explicit expressions have been derived for the hysteresis loop as a result of the study.

Chapter 3 has investigated the consistency of the generalized Duhem model with hysteresis. To this end, a classification has been introduced for the system in relation with a parameter λ related to the description of the field. Three classes of models have been considered: $\lambda > 1$, $0 < \lambda < 1$, and $\lambda = 1$. For $\lambda > 1$, it has been shown that the generalized Duhem model does not exhibit hysteresis. For $0 < \lambda < 1$, it has been shown that the semilinear Duhem model is not compatible with a hysteresis behavior. For the case $\lambda = 1$, necessary conditions and sufficient ones for the consistency of the Duhem model have been derived.

Working on this thesis gave rise to the following publications:

• M.F.M. Naser, F. Ikhouane, "Consistency of the Duhem Model with Hysteresis", *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, vol. 2013, ID 586130,

Conclusions and future work

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

2013, doi: 10.1155/2013/586130. (impact factor of the journal=1.383).

- M.F.M. Naser, F. Ikhouane, "On LuGre Friction Model", in review process.
- M.F.M. Naser, F. Ikhouane, "Characterization of the Hysteresis Duhem Model", 5th IFAC International Workshop on Periodic Control Systems (PSYCO 2013), Caen, France, pp. 29-34, 2013.
- M.F.M. Naser, F. Ikhouane, "Advances on LuGre Friction Model", International Conference on Applied Mathematics (ICAM 2013), vol. 7, no. 10, pp. 97-103, Paris, France, 2013.

Future work

One of the possible future research line is to design an identification algorithm for the LuGre model using the analytical description of its hysteresis loop. Another possible research line is to extend the results obtained in Lemma 2.2.1 to study the stability of slowly varying systems.

 \oplus

 \oplus

Bibliography

Đ

⊕

⊕

- [1] R. A. Adams and J. J. F. Fournier, Sobolev Spaces, Elsevier, 2003.
- [2] A. W. Adamson and A. P. Gast, *Physical Chemistry of Surfaces*, 4-th ed., John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY, ISBN: 978-0-471-14873-9, 1983.
- [3] F. B. Adda and J. Cresson, "About non-differentiable functions", Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, vol. 263, no. 2, pp. 721–737, 2001.
- [4] F. Al-Bender, V. Lampaert, and J. Swevers, "Modeling of dry sliding friction dynamics: From heuristic models to physically motivated models and back", *Chaos*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 446-445, 2004.
- [5] F. Al-Bender, V. Lampaert, and J. Swevers, "The generalized Maxwell-slip model: a novel model for friction Simulation and compensation", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 50, no. 11, pp. 1883-1887, 2005.
- [6] T. M. Apostol, Mathematical Analysis, 2nd ed., Addison-Wesley, 1974.
- [7] B. Armstrong-Hélouvry, "Stick slip and control in low-speed motion", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 1483-1496, 1993.

⊕

⊕

 \oplus

- [8] B. Armstrong-Hélouvry, P. Dupont, and C. Canudas De Wit, "A survey of models, analysis tools and compensation methods for the control of machines with friction", *Automatica*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 1083-1138, 1994.
- B. Armstrong-Hélouvry, Control of Machines with Friction, USA: Springer ISBN 0-7923-9133-0, 1991.
- [10] M. Bai, D.H Zhou, and H. Schwarz, "Identification of generalized friction for an experimental planar two-link flexible manipulator using strong tracking filter", *IEEE Transactions on Robotics and Automation*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 362-369, 1999.
- [11] W. Baltensperger and J.S. Helman, "Dry friction in micromagnetics", *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 4772-4774, 1991.
- [12] N. Barahanov and R. Ortega, "Necessary and sufficient conditions for passivity of the LuGre friction model", *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp 830–832, 2000.
- [13] C. B. Baril, Control of Mechanical Systems Affected by Friction and Other Nondifferentiable Nonlinearities, PhD thesis, Technion, Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel, 1993.
- [14] F. Beer, E. R. Johnston Jr., E. Eisenberg, D. Mazurek, Vector Mechanics for Engineers, 6-th ed., McGraw-Hill, ISBN 0-07-297688-8, 1996.
- [15] D. S. Bernstein, "Ivory ghost [ask the experts]", *IEEE Control Systems*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 16-17, 2007.
- [16] K. Besocke, "An easily operable scanning tunneling microscope", Surface Science, Vol. 181, No. 1-2, pp. 145-153, 1987.
- [17] P. J. Blau, Friction Science and Technology, Marcel Dekker Inc., L.L Faulkner (ed.), New York, 1996.

 \oplus

Bibliography

 \oplus

 \oplus

- [18] P. A. Bliman and M. Sorine, "Easy to use realistic dry friction modes for automatic control", *Proceedings of 3rd European Control Conference*, Rome, Italy, pg 3788-3794, 1995.
- [19] B. Bona, M. Indri, N. Smaldone, "Friction identification and model-based digital control of a direct-drive manipulator", Current Trends in Nonlinear Systems and Control Systems and Control: Foundations and Applications, DOI 10.1007/0-8176-4470-9-13.
- [20] R. Bouc, "Forced vibration of mechanical systems with hysteresis", Proceedings of the Fourth Conference on Nonlinear Oscillation, Prague, Czechoslovakia, pp. 315, 1967.
- [21] R. Bouc, "Modèle mathématique d'hystérésis", Acustica, vol. 24, pp. 16-25, 1971.
- [22] F. P. Bowden and D. Tabor, The Friction and Lubrication of Solids, Clarendon Press, part 1, 1950.
- [23] M. Brokate and J. Sprekels, Hysteresis and Phase Transitions, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1996.
- [24] C. Canudas de Wit, K. Åström and K. Braun, "Adaptive friction compensation in dc-motor drives", *IEEE Journal of Robotics and Automation*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 681-685, 1987.
- [25] C. Canudas de Wit, H. Olsson, K. Åström and P. Lischinsky, "A new model for control of systems with friction", *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 419-425, 1995.
- [26] C. Carathéodory, Vorlesungen über reelle Funktionen, Dover, reprint, 1948.
- [27] J. S. Courtney-Pratt and E. Eisner, "The effect of a tangential force on the contact of metallic bodies", *Proceedings of Royal Society*, vol. 238, pp. 529-550, 1957.

Đ

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

 \oplus

- [28] C. A. Coulomb, "Théorie des machines simples", Mémoires de mathématiques et de physique de l'academie de sciences, pp. 161-331, 1785.
- [29] P. R. Dahl, "A solid friction model", The Aerospace Corporation El Segundo, TOR-0158 (3107-18), Clifornia, 1968.
- [30] P. Dahl, "Solid friction damping of mechanical vibrations", AIAA J., vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 1675-1682, 1976.
- [31] C. C. De Wit, H. Olsson, K. J. Åström, and P. Lischinsky, "Dynamic friction models and control design", *American Control Conference*, pp. 1920-1926, 1993.
- [32] R. Dong, Y. Tan, H. Chen, and Y. Xie, "A neural networks based model for rate-dependent hysteresis for piezoceramic actuators", *Sensors and Actuators A: Physical*, vol. 143, no. 2, pp. 370-376, 2008.
- [33] D. Dowson, *History of Tribology*, 2nd ed., Professional Engineering Publishing, ISBN 1-86058-070-X, 1997.
- [34] P. Duhem, "Die dauernden änderungen und die thermodynamik", Zeitschrift fur Physikalische Chemie, vol. 22, pp. 543-589, 1897.
- [35] P. Dupont, "Avoiding stick-slip through PD control", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 1094-1097, 1994.
- [36] P. Dupont, V. Hayward, B. Armstrong and F. Altpeter, "Single state elastoplastic friction models", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 787-792, 2002.
- [37] C. Enachescu et al, "Rate-dependent light-induced thermal hysteresis of [Fe(PM-BiA)2(NCS)2] spin transition complex", *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 99, 08J504, 2006.
- [38] Y. Feng, C. A. Rabbath, T. Chai, and C.-Y. Su, "Robust adaptive control of systems with hysteretic nonlinearities: A Duhem hysteresis modelling approach", AFRICON, pp. 1-6, 2009.

 \oplus

Bibliography

 \oplus

 \oplus

- [39] A. F. Filippov, Differential Equations with Discontinuous Right-Hand Sides, Kluwer, 1988.
- [40] L. Freidovich, A. Robertsson, A. Shiriaev and R. Johansson, "LuGremodel-based friction compensation", *IEEE Trans. Control Syst. Technol.*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 194-200, 2010.
- [41] L. Freidovich and Y.-J. Park, "On adaptive friction compensation", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 37, no. 10, pp. 1609-1612, 1992.
- [42] J. Fuzi, and A. Ivanyi, "Features of two rate-dependent hysteresis models", *Physica B: Condensed Matter*, vol. 306, no. 1-4, pp. 137-142, 2001.
- [43] D. A. J. Haessig and B. Friedland, "On the Modeling and Simulation of Friction", Journal of Dynamic Systems, Measurement, and Control, vol. 113, no. 3, pp. 155-165, 1991.
- [44] J. K. Hale and H. Kocak, Dynamics and Bifurcations, New York: Springer Verlag 1991.
- [45] A. Harnoy, B. Friedland and H. Rachoor, "Modeling and simulation of elastic and friction forces in lubricated bearings for precise motion control", *Wear*, vol. 172, no. 2, pp. 155-165, 1992.
- [46] V. Hayward and B. Armstrong, "A new computational model of friction applied to haptic rendering", *In Experimental Robotics VI*, Springer: New-York, LNCS 250, pp. 404-412, 2000.
- [47] D. P. Hess and A. Soom, "Friction at a lubricated line contact operating at oscillating sliding velocities", *Journal of Tribology*, vol. 112, pp. 147-152, 1990.
- [48] R. C. Hibbeler, Charles Augustin Coulomb: Physics and Engineering in Eighteen century France, Princeton, N.J., 1971
- [49] R. C. Hibbeler, *Engineering Mechanics*, 11-th ed., Pearson, Prentice Hall. ISBN 0-13-127146.

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

⊕

 \oplus

 \oplus

- [50] M. L. Hodgdon, "Applications of a theory of ferromagnetic hysteresis", *IEEE Transactions on Magnetic*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 218-221, 1988.
- [51] M. L. Hodgdon, "Mathematical theory and calculations of magnetic hysteresis curves", *IEEE Transactions on Magnetic*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 3120-3122, 1988.
- [52] F. Ikhouane, "Characterization of hysteresis processes", Math. Control Signals Systems, vol. 25, pp. 294-310, 2013, DOI 0.1007/s00498-012-0099-6.
- [53] F. Ikhouane and J. Rodellar, Systems with Hysteresis: Analysis, Identification and Control Using the Bouc-Wen Model, Wiley, Chichester, UK, 2007.
- [54] F. Ikhouane, V. Mañosa, and J. Rodellar, "Dynamic properties of the hysteretic Bouc-Wen model", Systems and Control Letters, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 197-205, 2007.
- [55] M. Ismail, F. Ikhouane and J. Rodellar, "The Hysteresis Bouc-Wen model, a survey", *Computational Methods in Engineering*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 161-188, 2009.
- [56] C. Iurian, Robust-Adaptive Control and Observer Design for Mechanical Systems With Friction, PhD thesis, Technical University of Catalonia, 2007.
- [57] J. Ishikawa, S. Tei, D. Hoshino; M. Izutsu, and N. Kamamichi "Friction compensation based on the LuGre friction model", *Proceedings of SICE Annual Conference*, pp. 9-12, 2010.
- [58] B. Jayawardhana, R. Ouyang, and V. Andrieu, "Stability of systems with the Duhem hysteresis operator: the dissipativity approach", *Automatica*, vol. 48, no. 10, pp. 2657-2662, 2012.

 \oplus

Bibliography

 \oplus

 \oplus

- [59] K. Johanastrom and C. Canudas-de-Wit, "Revisiting the LuGre friction model", *IEEE Control Syst. Mag*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 101-114, 2008.
- [60] M. R. Kermani, R. V. Patel and M. Moallem, "Friction identification and compensation in robotic manipulators", *IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 2346-2353, 2007.
- [61] H. K. Khalil, Nonlinear Systems, 3rd ed., Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, 2002, ISBN 0130673897.
- [62] M. A. Krasnosel'skii and A. V. Pokrovskii, Systems with Hysteresis, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 1989.
- [63] G. Leoni, A First course in sobolev spaces, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2009.
- [64] K.-Y. Lian, C.-Y. Hung, C.-S. Chiu, and P. Liu, "Induction motor control with friction compensation: an approach of virtual-desired-variable synthesis", *IEEE J. Emerg. Sel. Topics Power Electron.*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 1066-1074, 2005.
- [65] H. Longmann, E. P. Ryan, and I. Shvartsmann "A class of differentialdelay systems with hysteresis: asymptotic behaviour of solutions", *Nonlin*ear Anal., vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 1066-1074, 2008.
- [66] J. W. Macki, P. Nistri and P. Zecca, "Mathematical models for hysteresis", SIAM Review, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 94-123, 1993.
- [67] N. Mallon, N. van de Wouw, D. Putra, and H. Nijmeijer, "Friction compensation in a controlled one-link robot using a reduced-order observer", *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 374-383, 2006.
- [68] M. Marques, Differential Inclusions in Nonsmooth Mechanical Problems: Shocks and Dry Friction, Cambridge, MA: Birkhaser, 1993.

Đ

⊕

⊕

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

- [69] I. Mayergoyz, Mathematical Models of Hysteresis, Elsevier Series in Electromagnetism, New-York, 2003.
- [70] J. L. Meriam, W. J. Palm, and L. G. Kraige, *Engineering Mechanics: Statics*, Wiley and Sons, ISBN 0-471-40646-5, 2002.
- [71] A. J. Morin, "New friction experiments", Proceedings of the French Royal Academy of Sciences, volume 4, pp. 1128, 1833.
- [72] J. Oh and D. S. Bernstein, "Semilinear Duhem model for rate-independent and rate-dependent hysteresis", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 631-645, 2005.
- [73] J. Oh and D. S. Bernstein, "Piecewise linear identification for the rateindependent and rate-dependent Duhem hysteresis models", *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 576-582, 2007.
- [74] J. Oh, B. Drincic, and D. S. Bernstein, "Nonlinear feedback models of hysteresis", *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 100-119, 2009.
- [75] H. Olsson, Control Systems with Friction, PhD thesis, Department of Automatic Control, Lund Institute of Technology, Lund, Sweden, 1996, http://www.control.lth.se/publications/
- [76] R. Ouyang, V. Andrieu, and B. Jayawardhana, "On the characterization of the Duhem hysteresis operator with clockwise input-output dynamics", *Systems and Control Letters*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 286–293, 2013.
- [77] A. Padthe, and D. S. Bernstein, "A delay-Duhem model for jumpresonance hysteresis", 46th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, pp. 1609-1614, 2007.
- [78] A. K. Padthe, B. Drincic, J. Oh, D. D. Rizos, S. D. Fassois, and D. S. Berstein, "Duhem modeling of friction-induced hysteresis", *IEEE Control Syst. Mag.*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 90-107, 2008.

 \oplus

Bibliography

 \oplus

 \oplus

- [79] U. Parlitz, A. Hornstein, D. Engster, F. Al-Bender, V. Lampaert, T. Tjahjowidodo, S. D. Fassois, D. Rizos, C. X. Wong, K. Worden, and G. Manson, "Identification of pre-sliding friction dynamics", *Chaos*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 420-430, 2004.
- [80] N. J. Persson, Sliding Friction: Physical Principles and Applications, 2nd ed., Springer, Heidelburg, Germany, 2000.
- [81] B. N. J. Persson and A. I. Volokitin, "Theory of rubber friction : nonstationary sliding", *Physical Review B*, DOI: Physical Review B, 65, 134106, 2002.
- [82] O. Reynolds, "On the theory of lubrication and its application to Mr. Beauchamp Towers experiments, including an experimental determination of the viscosity of olive oil", *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* of London, vol. 177, pp. 157-234, 1886.
- [83] E. Rabinowicz, "The nature of the static and kinetic coefficients of friction", Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 22, no. 11, pp. 1373-1379, 1951.
- [84] D. Rizos and S. Fassois, "Friction identification based upon the LuGre and Maxwell slip models", *IEEE Trans. Control Syst. Technol.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 153-160, 2009.
- [85] D. D. Rizos and S. Fassois, "Presliding friction identification based upon the Maxwell slip model structure", *Chaos*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 431-445, 2004.
- [86] A. Rodriguez, N. Iwata, F. Ikhouane and J. Rodellar, "Modeling and identification of a large-scale magnetorheological fluid damper", *Smart Mater. Struct.*, vol. 18, pp. 374–379, 2009.
- [87] H. L. Royden, *Real analysis*, third ed., Macmillan Publishing Co., New York, 1988.
- [88] W. Rudin, Real and Complex Analysis, McGraw-Hill, 3rd ed., 1986.

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

 \oplus

 \oplus

- [89] P. P. San, B. Ren, S. S. Ge, T. H. Lee, J.-K. Liu, "Adaptive neural network control of hard disk drives with hysteresis friction nonlinearity", *IEEE Trans. Control Syst. Technol.*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 351-358, 2011.
- [90] K. Schmitt and R. Thompson, Nonlinear analysis and differential equations: an introduction, lecture notes, University of Utah, Department of Mathematics, 1998.
- [91] Sheppard and Tongue, Statics: Analysis and Design of Systems in Equilibrium, Wiley and Sons. p. 618. ISBN 0-471-37299-4, 2005.
- [92] F. A. Shirazi, J. Mohammadpour, K. M. Grigoriadis, and G. Song, "Identification and control of an MR damper with stiction effect and its application in structural vibration mitigation", *IEEE Trans. Control Syst. Technol.*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 1285-1301, 2012.
- [93] R. Stribeck, Die wesentlichen Eigenschaften der Gleit-und Rollenlager The key qualities of sliding and roller bearings, Springer, Berlin, 1903.
- [94] J. Swevers, F. Al-Bender, C. G. Ganseman, and T. Projogo, "An integrated friction model structure with improved presliding behavior for accurate friction compensation", *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 675-686, 2000.
- [95] Y. Tan, J. Chang, and H. Tan, "Adaptive backstepping control and friction compensation for AC servo with inertia and load uncertainties", *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 944-952, 2003.
- [96] D. E. Varberg, "On absolutely continuous functions", The American Mathematical Monthly, vol. 72, no. 8, pp. 831–841, 1965.
- [97] I. Virgala1, P. Frankovsky, and M. Kenderova, "Friction effect analysis of a DC motor", American Journal of Mechanical Engineering, DOI: 10.12691/ajme-1-1-1.

94

 \oplus

 \oplus

- [98] A. Visintin, Differential Models of Hysteresis, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1994.
- [99] Y. K. Wen, "Method for random vibration of hysteretic systems", J. Eng. Mech., vol. 102, no. 2, pp. 249-263, 1976.
- [100] E. T. Whittaker, and G. N. Watson, "A Course in Modern Analysis", Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press, 4th ed., 1990.
- [101] X. D. Wu, S. G. Zuo, L. Lei, X. W. Yang and Y. Li, "Parameter identification for a LuGre model based on steady-state tire conditions", Int J Automot Techn, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 671–677, 2011.
- [102] W.-F. Xie, "Sliding-mode-observer-based adaptive control for servo actuator with friction", *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.*, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 1517-1527, 2007.
- [103] Z. Yang, Fracture, Friction and Granular Simulation, Ph.D. thesis, The University of Texas at Austin, 2009.
- [104] X. J. Yang, Local Fractional Functional Analysis and Its Applications, Asian Academic publisher Limited, Hong Kong, 2011.
- [105] H. Zeng and N. Sepehri, "Adaptive backstepping control of hydraulic manipulators with friction compensation using LuGre model", 2006 American Control Conference, MN Minneapolis, 2006.

 \oplus

 \oplus

⊕

"Dissertation" — 2013/12/12 — 1:28 — page 96 — #108

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \ominus

 \oplus

 \oplus
\oplus

 \oplus

Index

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Banach space, 5, 34 Bouc's hysteresis model, 69 Bouc-Wen model, vi, 39, 71 Break-away force, 17 Cantor function, 60 Carathéodory solutions, 3 Convergence, 8, 9, 23, 37, 42, 53, 61, 74 Coulomb friction, 13, 34, 39 Dahl model, 39, 72 Dominated Lebesgue Theorem, 2, 34, 55Duhem model generalized, 39 identification of, 39 passivity of, 39 semilinear, 39, 65, 74 Essential supremum, 1 Euclidean norm, 1

Fractional Taylor's expansion, 43, 45 Friction compensation of, 12 definition of, 11 dry, 12 dynamic, 12, 15 fluid, 12 identification of, 12 lubricated friction, 12 static, 12, 13 Frictional lag, 15, 16, 19 Function absolutely continuous, 2, 23 class \mathcal{K}_{∞} , 61 decreasing, 1 increasing, 1 Lebesgue integrable, 1 Lipschitz, 3, 53, 65, 69, 71, 72, 75measurable, 1

98

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

 \oplus

Index

 \oplus

 \oplus

non-decreasing, 1	Sobolev space, 5
non-increasing, 1, 53	Solution
	Carathéodory, 3
Gamma function, 4, 42	global, $4, 53$
Hurwitz matrix, 65	unique, 4, 53, 61
Hysteresis, v, 19	Stability, 25
rate-dependent, v, 6	Stick-slip motion, 15, 17, 19
rate-independent, v, 6, 69	Stiction, 14, 34
relay, 6	Stribeck effect, 15, 19, 34
Hysteresis loop, 9	Trader and size with non-sized as 44
	Taylor expansion with remainder, 44
Ishlinskii model, 6	Time scale change, 6, 21, 40
Lebesgue measure, 1	Time-varying system, 19
Local fractional derivative, 43	lotal variation, 5
LuGre friction model, 11, 17	Varying break-away force, 15, 17, 19
compensation of, 19	
dissipativity of, 19	Wave periodic input, 8, 28
identification of, 19	
Lyapunov function, 23, 29, 61, 65	
Maxwell-slip model. 39	
Measurable set. 1	
0	
Operator	
causal, 6, 8	
consistent, 8, 19, 27, 34, 41, 61, 69, 74	
left-derivative, 20	
strongly consistent, $9, 19, 27, 34$	
Preisach model, 6	
Presliding displacement, 15, 19	
Signum function, 13	

 \oplus

 \oplus